

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Environment International 32 (2006) 831-849

Review article

ENVIRONMENT INTERNATIONAL

www.elsevier.com/locate/envint

Ecological and toxicological effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems: A global assessment

Julio A. Camargo^{a,*}, Álvaro Alonso^b

^a Departamento de Ecología, Edificio de Ciencias, Universidad de Alcalá, 28871 Alcalá de Henares (Madrid), Spain ^b Laboratorio de Ecotoxicología, Departamento de Medio Ambiente, INIA, 28040 Madrid, Spain

> Received 20 September 2005; accepted 1 May 2006 Available online 16 June 2006

Abstract

We provide a global assessment, with detailed multi-scale data, of the ecological and toxicological effects generated by inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems. Our synthesis of the published scientific literature shows three major environmental problems: (1) it can increase the concentration of hydrogen ions in freshwater ecosystems without much acid-neutralizing capacity, resulting in acidification of those systems; (2) it can stimulate or enhance the development, maintenance and proliferation of primary producers, resulting in eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems; (3) it can reach toxic levels that impair the ability of aquatic animals to survive, grow and reproduce. Inorganic nitrogen pollution of ground and surface waters can also induce adverse effects on human health and economy.

Because reductions in SO₂ emissions have reduced the atmospheric deposition of H_2SO_4 across large portions of North America and Europe, while emissions of NO_x have gone unchecked, HNO₃ is now playing an increasing role in the acidification of freshwater ecosystems. This acidification process has caused several adverse effects on primary and secondary producers, with significant biotic impoverishments, particularly concerning invertebrates and fishes, in many atmospherically acidified lakes and streams. The cultural eutrophication of freshwater, estuarine, and coastal marine ecosystems can cause ecological and toxicological effects that are either directly or indirectly related to the proliferation of primary producers. Extensive kills of both invertebrates and fishes are probably the most dramatic manifestation of hypoxia (or anoxia) in eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems with low water turnover rates. The decline in dissolved oxygen concentrations can also promote the formation of reduced compounds, such as hydrogen sulphide, resulting in higher adverse (toxic) effects on aquatic animals. Additionally, the occurrence of toxic algae can significantly contribute to the extensive kills of aquatic animals. Cyanobacteria, dinoflagellates and diatoms appear to be major responsible that may be stimulated by inorganic nitrogen pollution. Among the different inorganic nitrogenous compounds (NH⁴₄, NH₃, NO²₇, HNO₂, NO³₃) that aquatic animals can take up directly from the ambient water, unionized ammonia is the most toxic, while ammonium and nitrate ions are the least toxic. In general, seawater animals seem to be more tolerant to the toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds than freshwater animals, probably because of the ameliorating effect of water salinity (sodium, chloride, calcium and other ions) on the tolerance of aquatic animals.

Ingested nitrites and nitrates from polluted drinking waters can induce methemoglobinemia in humans, particularly in young infants, by blocking the oxygen-carrying capacity of hemoglobin. Ingested nitrites and nitrates also have a potential role in developing cancers of the digestive tract through their contribution to the formation of nitrosamines. In addition, some scientific evidences suggest that ingested nitrites and nitrates might result in mutagenicity, teratogenicity and birth defects, contribute to the risks of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and bladder and ovarian cancers, play a role in the etiology of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and in the development of thyroid hypertrophy, or cause spontaneous abortions and respiratory tract infections. Indirect health hazards can occur as a consequence of algal toxins, causing nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, pneumonia, gastroenteritis, hepatoenteritis, muscular cramps, and several poisoning syndromes (paralytic shellfish poisoning, neurotoxic shellfish poisoning). Other indirect health hazards can also come from the potential relationship between inorganic nitrogen pollution and human infectious diseases (malaria, cholera). Human sickness and death, extensive kills of aquatic animals, and other negative effects, can have elevated costs on human economy, with the recreation and tourism industry suffering the most important economic impacts, at least locally.

It is concluded that levels of total nitrogen lower than 0.5–1.0 mg TN/L could prevent aquatic ecosystems (excluding those ecosystems with naturally high N levels) from developing acidification and eutrophication, at least by inorganic nitrogen pollution. Those relatively low TN levels could also protect aquatic animals against the toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds since, in the absence of eutrophication, surface waters

* Corresponding author. Fax: +34 91 885 49 29. *E-mail address:* julio.camargo@uah.es (J.A. Camargo).

usually present relatively high concentrations of dissolved oxygen, most inorganic reactive nitrogen being in the form of nitrate. Additionally, human health and economy would be safer from the adverse effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Inorganic nitrogen pollution; Aquatic ecosystems; Ecological and toxicological effects; Human risk; Global assessment

Contents

1	Introduction	832
2	Acidification of freshwater ecosystems	
۷.		
3.	Eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems	834
4.	Occurrence of toxic algae	836
	4.1. Toxic cyanobacteria and toxins.	836
	4.2. Toxic dinoflagellates and toxins	837
	4.3. Toxic diatoms and toxins.	838
5.	Toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds.	838
	5.1. Ammonia toxicity	838
	5.2. Nitrite toxicity	839
	5.3. Nitrate toxicity	840
6.	Adverse effects on human health and economy	841
	6.1. Effects on human health	841
	6.2. Effects on human economy	843
7.	Concluding remarks	843
Ack	nowledgements	844
		844

1. Introduction

Nitrogen is the most abundant chemical element of the Earth's atmosphere (almost 80%), and also one of the essential components of many key biomolecules (e.g., amino acids, nucleotides). It ranks fourth behind carbon, oxygen and hydrogen as the commonest chemical element in living tissues (Campbell, 1990). An increase in the environmental availability of inorganic nitrogen usually boosts life production, firstly increasing the abundance of primary producers. However, high levels of inorganic nitrogen that cannot be assimilated by the functioning of ecological systems (i.e., N saturated ecosystems) can cause adverse effects on the least tolerant organisms.

Ammonium (NH_4^+) , nitrite (NO_2^-) and nitrate (NO_3^-) are the most common ionic (reactive) forms of dissolved inorganic nitrogen in aquatic ecosystems (Kinne, 1984; Howarth, 1988; Day et al., 1989; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais, 2002). These ions can be present naturally as a result of atmospheric deposition, surface and groundwater runoff, dissolution of nitrogen-rich geological deposits, N₂ fixation by certain prokaryotes (cyanobacteria with heterocysts, in particular), and biological degradation of organic matter (Kinne, 1984; Howarth, 1988; Day et al., 1989; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais, 2002). Ammonium tends to be oxidized to nitrate in a two-step process $(NH_4^+ \rightarrow NO_2^- \rightarrow NO_3^-)$ by aerobic chemoautotrophic bacteria (Nitrosomonas and Nitrobacter, primarily) (Sharma and Ahlert, 1977; Wetzel, 2001). The nitrification process can even occur if levels of dissolved oxygen decline to a value as low as 1.0 mg O₂/L (Stumm and Morgan, 1996; Wetzel, 2001). NH_4^+ , NO_2^- and NO_3^- may however be removed from water by macrophytes, algae and bacteria which assimilate them as sources

of nitrogen (Howarth, 1988; Harper, 1992; Paerl, 1997; Wetzel, 2001; Dodds et al., 2002; Smith, 2003). Furthermore, in anaerobic waters and anoxic sediments, facultative anaerobic bacteria (e.g., *Achromobacter, Bacillus, Micrococcus, Pseudomonas*) can utilize nitrite and nitrate as terminal acceptors of electrons, resulting in the ultimate formation of N_2O and N_2 (Austin, 1988; Stumm and Morgan, 1996; Wetzel, 2001; Paerl et al., 2002).

During the past two centuries, and especially over the last five decades, humans have substantially altered the global nitrogen cycle (as well as the global cycles of other chemical elements), increasing both the availability and the mobility of nitrogen over large regions of Earth (Vitousek et al., 1997; Carpenter et al., 1998; Howarth et al., 2000; Galloway and Cowling, 2002). Consequently, in addition to natural sources, inorganic nitrogen can enter aquatic ecosystems via point and nonpoint sources derived from human activities (Table 1). Nonpoint sources generally are of greater relevance than point sources since they are larger and more difficult to control (Howarth et al., 2000; National Research Council, 2000). Moreover, anthropogenic inputs of particulate nitrogen and organic nitrogen to the environment can also result in inorganic nitrogen pollution (National Research Council, 2000; Smil, 2001). Concentrations of inorganic nitrogenous compounds (NH_4^+, NO_2^-, NO_3^-) in ground and surface waters are hence increasing around the world, causing significant effects on many aquatic organisms and, ultimately, contributing to the degradation of freshwater, estuarine, and coastal marine ecosystems (Neilson and Cronin, 1981; Russo, 1985; Meybeck et al., 1989; Camargo, 1992; Gleick, 1993; Nixon, 1995; Paerl, 1997; Smith et al., 1999; Howarth et al., 2000; National Research Council, 2000; Smil, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Philips et al., 2002; Rabalais and

Major anthropogenic sources of inorganic nitrogen in aquatic ecosystems (Vitousek et al., 1997; Carpenter et al., 1998; Howarth et al., 2000; National Research Council, 2000; Smil, 2001; Galloway and Cowling, 2002)

Point sources

- Wastewaters from livestock (cattle, pigs, chickens) farming
- N releases from aquaculture (fish, prawns, shrimps) operations
- Municipal sewage effluents (including effluents from sewage treatment plants that are not performing tertiary treatments)
- Industrial wastewater effluents
- Runoff and infiltration from waste disposal sites
- Runoff from operational mines, oil fields, and unsewered industrial sites
- Overflows of combined storm and sanitary sewers

Nonpoint sources

- Widespread cultivation of N₂-fixing crop species, and the subsequent N mobilization among terrestrial, aquatic and atmospheric realms
- Use of animal manure and inorganic N fertilizers, and the subsequent runoff from agriculture
- Runoff from burned forests and grasslands
- Runoff from N saturated forests and grasslands
- Urban runoff from unsewered and sewered areas
- Septic leachate and runoff from failed septic systems
- Runoff from construction sites and abandoned mines
- N loadings to ground waters and, subsequently, to receiving surface waters (rivers, lakes, estuaries, coastal zones)
- Emissions to the atmosphere of reduced (from volatilization of manure and fertilizers) and oxidized (from combustion of fossil fuels) N compounds, and the subsequent atmospheric (wet and dry) deposition over surface waters
- Other activities that can mobilize nitrogen (from long-term storage pools) such as biomass burning, land clearing and conversion, and wetland drainage

Nixon, 2002; Constable et al., 2003; Jensen, 2003; Smith, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005a).

Nevertheless, in spite of the current worldwide environmental concern, no study has provided a global assessment, with detailed multi-scale data, of the ecological and toxicological effects generated by inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems. We have performed such a study, and our synthesis of the published scientific literature shows three major environmental problems: (1) inorganic nitrogen pollution can increase the concentration of hydrogen ions in freshwater ecosystems without much acid-neutralizing capacity, resulting in acidification of those ecological systems; (2) inorganic nitrogen pollution can stimulate or enhance the development, maintenance and proliferation of primary producers, resulting in eutrophication of freshwater, estuarine, and coastal marine ecosystems. In some cases, inorganic nitrogen pollution can also induce the occurrence of toxic algae; (3) inorganic nitrogen pollution can impair the ability of aquatic animals to survive, grow and reproduce as a result of direct toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds. In addition, inorganic nitrogen pollution of ground and surface waters can induce adverse effects on human health and economy.

2. Acidification of freshwater ecosystems

Sulphur dioxide (SO₂), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and nitrogen oxide (NO) have been traditionally recognized as the major acidifying pollutants in lakes and streams (Schindler, 1988; Irwin,

1989; Mason, 1989; Baker et al., 1991). Once emitted into the atmosphere, these gaseous pollutants can undergo complex chemical reactions (see, for example, Mason, 1989), resulting in the formation of sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) and nitric acid (HNO₃). The subsequent atmospheric (wet and dry) deposition of these acid compounds may increase not only the concentrations of SO_4^{2-} and NO_3^- in surface waters, but also the concentration of H⁺ in freshwater environments without much acid-neutralizing capacity (i.e., with moderate or low alkalinity) (Schindler, 1988; Irwin, 1989; Mason, 1989; Baker et al., 1991). Moreover, a decrease in the pH value of water can increase the concentration of dissolved aluminium (Al³⁺) and other trace metals (e.g., Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn) owing to enhanced metal mobilization and/or decreased metal sedimentation (Bache, 1986; Borg et al., 1989; Nelson and Campbell, 1991). Part of the dissolved aluminium can subsequently settle in the sediments of atmospherically acidified lakes and reservoirs, reducing orthophosphate availability and disrupting the P cycling in those water bodies (Ulrich and Pöthig, 2000; Kopáèek et al., 2001).

Reductions in SO₂ emissions throughout the 1980s and 1990s have reduced the atmospheric deposition of H₂SO₄ across large portions of North America and Europe, while emissions of NO_x have gone unchecked (Vitousek et al., 1997; Driscoll et al., 1998; Stoddard et al., 1999; Skjelkvale et al., 2001). In consequence, HNO₃ is now playing an increasing role in the acidification of freshwater ecosystems (Vitousek et al., 1997; Driscoll et al., 1998; Stoddard et al., 1999; Skjelkvale et al., 2001). Significant inputs of NH₄⁺ can also contribute to the acidification process since ammonium nitrification produces hydrogen ions (Schuurkes and Mosello, 1988; Vitousek et al., 1997; Wetzel, 2001). Currently, eastern North America and northern and central Europe are major acidified regions on Earth that present lakes and streams with pH values usually ranging from 4.5 to 5.8 (Driscoll et al., 1998; Stoddard et al., 1999; Skjelkvale et al., 2001; Doka et al., 2003).

The anthropogenic acidification of lakes and streams can cause several adverse effects on primary and secondary producers (Table 2). Biotic impoverishments, particularly concerning invertebrates (crustaceans, gastropods, leeches) and fish (salmonids), have indeed been observed in many atmospherically acidified lakes and streams of North America and Europe during the last four decades (Krause-Dellin and Steinberg, 1986; Huckabee et al., 1989; Morris et al., 1989; Schindler et al., 1989; Fjellheim and Raddum, 1990; Meriläinen and Hynynen, 1990; Ormerod et al., 1990; Cummins, 1994; Allan, 1995). A pH range of 5.5-6.0 seems to be an important threshold below which damage to sensitive aquatic biota will remain a major local and regional environmental problem (Doka et al., 2003). The damage of anthropogenic acidification to sensitive aquatic biota may however be mitigated by high concentrations of calcium, sodium, potassium and chloride in the aquatic environment (Morris et al., 1989; Ormerod et al., 1990; Baker et al., 1991; Camargo and Ward, 1993; Cummins, 1994; Allan, 1995).

Key microbial processes for nutrient cycling and ecosystem functioning can also be inhibited or altered as a consequence of decreased pH values. NH_4^+ nitrification ceased at pH values below 5.6 in experimentally acidified Canadian lakes, with aquatic denitrification being stimulated (Rudd et al., 1988, 1990). N₂

Adverse effects	Δt	anthronogenic	aciditication /	nn	trechwater	nlante and	animale

Adverse effects	References
Depression of net photosynthesis in planktonic and attached algae	Schindler, 1988; Huckabee et al., 1989
Reduction of net productivity inplanktonic and attached algae	Schindler, 1988; Huckabee et al., 1989
Increased bioaccumulation of aluminium and other trace metals in aquatic (especially submerged) macrophytes	Sprenger and McIntosh, 1989
Increased abundance of filamentous green algae no longer attached to the substratum (metaphyton)	Schindler, 1988; Huckabee et al., 1989; Allan, 1995
Declined species diversity in phytoplankton and periphyton communities, with the loss of sensitive species	Schindler, 1988; Huckabee et al., 1989; Allan, 1995
Disruption of ionic regulation, especially loss of body sodium and failure to obtain sufficient calcium, in	Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Morris et al., 1989;
molluscs, insects, crustaceans, fish, and amphibians	Cummins, 1994
Respiratory and metabolic disturbances in molluscs, insects, crustaceans, fish, and amphibians	Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Morris et al., 1989;
	Cummins, 1994
Increased bioaccumulation and toxicity of aluminium and other trace metals in insects, crustaceans, fish, and	Morris et al., 1989; Spry and Wiener, 1991;
amphibians	Cummins, 1994
Arrested development of fish and amphibian embryos, presenting in some cases skeletal deformities	Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Morris et al., 1989;
	Cummins, 1994
Hatching delay of fish and amphibian eggs	Morris et al., 1989; Cummins, 1994
Disruption of molting and emergence in insects and crustaceans	Morris et al., 1989; Cummins, 1994
Reduced growth rates in cladocerans, fish, and amphibians	Morris et al., 1989; Cummins, 1994
Reduced efficiency or activity by grazing zooplankton (cladocerans), producing ramifying effects on the phytoplankton community	Locke, 1991; Cummins, 1994
Reduced efficiency or activity of prey capture by copepods, planarians, and fish, producing ramifying effects	Morris et al., 1989; Locke, 1991; Camargo and Ward,
on prey populations and on populations of other predators	1992a; Cummins, 1994
Increased migration of aquatic insects (caddisfly larvae) from their retreat and capture nets	Camargo and Ward, 1993
Increased drift behaviour of benthic invertebrates to be transported downstream	Camargo and Ward, 1993; Cummins, 1994
Avoidance of acid spawning sites by insects, fish, and amphibians	Cummins, 1994; Doka et al., 2003
Declined species diversity in zooplankton, macrobenthic, fish, and amphibian communities	Schindler, 1988; Morris et al., 1989; Cummins, 1994; Doka et al., 2003

fixation ceased at pH values below 5.0 in the experimentally acidified Little Rock Lake (Canada), but no effect on aquatic nitrification was observed (Schindler et al., 1991). Cessation of ammonium nitrification in the atmospherically acidified Plesne Lake (Central Europe) led to an atypical situation in which the lake became a net source of NH_4^+ (Kopáèek et al., 2004). Leaflitter decomposition decreased in atmospherically acidified woodland streams because of the negative effects on microbial decomposers (bacteria and fungi), with aquatic invertebrates (detritivore species, mainly) being affected due to changes in food quality and in food availability (Hildrew et al., 1984; Chamier, 1987; Groom and Hildrew, 1989; Griffith and Perry, 1994; Dangles et al., 2004). The rate of microbial decomposition could however be increased or even recovered, and the abundance of detritivores could also increase, after liming (Cummins, 1994; Allan, 1995; Dangles et al., 2004).

3. Eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems

Limitation of inorganic nitrogen characterizes large portions of the world's coastal and estuarine environments, net primary production being mainly controlled by N inputs (Neilson and Cronin, 1981; Kinne, 1984; Howarth, 1988; Day et al., 1989; Nixon, 1995; Paerl, 1997; Howarth et al., 2000; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002). However, in estuaries and coastal marine ecosystems that are receiving high N inputs, phosphorus can become relatively more limiting as the N:P loading ratio tends to increase (Fisher et al., 1992; Vollenweider et al., 1992; Anderson et al., 2002; Turner, 2002). In freshwater environments, phosphorus has often been identified as the foremost limiting nutrient for algal growth (Schindler, 1977; Margalef, 1983; Harper, 1992; Reynolds, 1998; Biggs, 2000; Downing et al., 2001; Smith, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005b), though in many instances nitrogen can also play an important role in net primary production, especially in lakes and streams with low N:P loading ratios (Elser et al., 1990; Harper, 1992; Allan, 1995; Borchardt, 1996; Francouer, 2001; Wetzel, 2001; Dodds et al., 2002; Smith, 2003). Other nutrients, such as silicon and iron, also can significantly influence the growth and abundance of algae (e.g., diatoms) but, in general, to a lesser extent than N and P (Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Smith, 2003). Freshwater and marine ecosystems might however move towards a higher incidence of Si limitation as a result of increased N and P loadings (Turner et al., 1998, 2003a,b).

Elevated concentrations of NH_4^+ , NO_2^- and NO_3^- , derived from human activities, can therefore stimulate or enhance the development, maintenance and proliferation of primary producers (phytoplankton, benthic algae, macrophytes), contributing to the widespread phenomenon of the cultural (man-made) eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems (Howarth, 1988; Harper, 1992; Allan, 1995; Borchardt, 1996; Paerl, 1997; National Research Council, 2000; Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Dodds et al., 2002; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Turner, 2002; Smith, 2003). In fact, over the last four decades, human activities are estimated to have increased N fluxes (mainly as nitrate) into the coastal waters of the northeastern USA by 6- to 8-fold, into the coastal waters of the Gulf of Mexico by 4- to 5-fold, and into the European rivers draining to the North Sea region by 6- to 20fold, linking these increased N fluxes to increased numbers of algal blooms (Vitousek et al., 1997; Howarth et al., 2000; Rabalais et al., 2002; Smith, 2003).

Although the monitoring and assessment of cultural eutrophication has been traditionally based on phosphorus and chlorophyll-

Ecological and toxicological effects of cultural eutrophication in aquatic ecosystems

Ecological and toxicological effects	References
Reductions in water column transparency and light availability	Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Increased sedimentation of organic matter	Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Decreased concentrations of dissolved oxygen (hypoxic or anoxic conditions) in bottom waters and sediments	Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Formation of reduced (toxic) chemical compounds (e.g., H ₂ S) in bottom waters and sediments	Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
P releases from sediments that can reinforce eutrophication	Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Increased biomass and productivity of phytoplankton	Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Shifts in phytoplankton composition to bloom-forming species, some of which may be toxic	Paerl, 1997; Van Dolah, 2000; Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002;
(e.g., <i>Microcystis</i> cyanobacteria in fresh waters and <i>Alexandrium</i> dinoflagellates in coastal waters)	Smith, 2003
Increased biomass, and changes in productivity and species composition, of freshwater periphyton, being usually favoured filamentous species (e.g., <i>Cladophora</i>) at the expense of other attached microalgae	Allan, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Dodds et al., 2002; Camargo et al., 2005b
Increased biomass, and changes in productivity and species composition, of freshwater macrophytes, often with proliferation of duckweeds	Allan, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Cirujano and Medina, 2002
Increased biomass and productivity, and shifts in species composition, of marine macroalgae, being usually favoured fast-growing seaweeds at the expense of sensitive seagrasses	Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003
Losses of species diversity in phytoplankton, periphyton, macrophyte and macroalgae communities	Harper, 1992; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003
Increased biomass, and changes in productivity and species composition, of zooplankton, being usually favoured invertebrate grazers (e.g., <i>Daphnia</i>) at the expense of other trophic groups	Harper, 1992; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003
Changes in biomass, productivity and species composition of benthic invertebrates and fish, often with mass mortality events in sensitive populations and reductions in the area of suitable habitat for reproduction. Tolerant grazers (e.g., <i>Lymnaea</i>) may proliferate at the expense of other trophic groups	
Losses of species diversity in zooplankton, benthic invertebrates and fish communities	Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003
Reductions in the health and size of marine coral populations, often with large increases in cover and biomass of fleshy macroalgae (e.g., <i>Lobophora</i>)	
Losses of species diversity in marine coral communities	Koop et al., 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002
Alterations in the food web structure of freshwater, estuarine, and coastal marine ecosystems, with ramifying effects on every trophic level	

a concentrations (see, for example, OECD, 1982), recent nutrient criteria to prevent and manage eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems include both phosphorus and nitrogen, owing to the increasing link between nitrogen pollution and cultural eutrophication. Dodds et al. (1998) have suggested upper limits of total nitrogen and total phosphorus for eutrophic temperate lakes (1260 µg TN/L and 71 μ g TP/L) and eutrophic temperate streams (1500 μ g TN/L and 75 µg TP/L). The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2000) has considered that levels higher than 440 μ g TN/L and 30 µg TP/L can result in eutrophication of coastal marine ecosystems. The US Environmental Protection Agency (2002) has recently published nutrient-criteria technical guidance manuals for freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems, taking into account two causal variables (TN and TP) and two response variables (algal biomass and water clarity). Those nutrient criteria however could ultimately depend on the TN:TP loading ratios, being able to induce multiple effects on the biomass and composition of phytoplankton (Turner, 2002; Smith, 2003).

Cultural eutrophication of freshwater, estuarine, and coastal marine ecosystems can cause ecological and toxicological effects that are either directly or indirectly related to the proliferation of primary producers (Table 3). This proliferation and the subsequent decomposition of organic matter usually lead to low dissolved oxygen concentrations in bottom waters and sediments of eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems with low water turnover rates. Hypoxic (or anoxic) conditions indeed occur throughout the world in stratified rivers, lakes, reservoirs, estuaries and coastal waters that receive high loadings of nutrients from anthropogenic sources, being able to affect large areas as in the well-known cases of the Chesapeake Bay, the Baltic and Black Seas, and the northern Gulf of Mexico (Neilson and Cronin, 1981; Margalef, 1983; Day et al., 1989; Harper, 1992; Vollenweider et al., 1992; Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Paerl et al., 2002; Rabalais et al., 2002; Smith, 2003).

Extensive kills of both invertebrates and fishes (sensitive benthic species, particularly) are probably the most dramatic manifestation of hypoxia (or anoxia) in eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems, with significant reductions in the area of suitable habitat for food, growth and reproduction of these aquatic organisms (Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Breitburg, 2002). The decline in dissolved oxygen concentrations can also promote the formation of reduced compounds, such as hydrogen sulphide (H₂S), resulting in higher adverse effects on aquatic animals (Diaz and Rosenberg, 1995; Wetzel, 2001; Breitburg, 2002). Hydrogen sulphide is a very toxic compound that can cause acute mortalities in aquatic animals at relatively low concentrations by affecting the nervous system (Ortiz et al., 1993). Additionally, mass occurrences of toxic algae, currently a global phenomenon that appears to be favoured by nutrient pollution (Carmichael, 1997; Paerl and Whitall, 1999; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah, 2000; Chorus, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Landsberg, 2002; Smith, 2003), can significantly contribute to the extensive kills of aquatic animals.

4. Occurrence of toxic algae

Algae can cause toxicity to aquatic (and terrestrial) animals because of the synthesis of certain toxins (harmful metabolites). These toxins can remain inside algal cells (intracellular toxins), or they may be released into the surrounding water (extracellular toxins) during active algal growth or when algal cells lyse (Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). In consequence, animals may be directly exposed to toxins by absorbing toxins from water, drinking water with toxins, or ingesting algal cells via feeding activity (Hallegraeff, 1993; Carmichael, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah, 2000; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). Because algal toxins can be bioaccumulated, biotransferred and biomagnified through food chains and food webs, aquatic and terrestrial animals (e.g., carnivorous fishes, dolphins, seals, birds, humans) may also be indirectly exposed to toxins when they consume other animals containing toxins (Hallegraeff, 1993; Carmichael, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah, 2000; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002).

Among the different taxonomic groups contributing to the occurrence of toxic algae, cyanobacteria, dinoflagellates and diatoms appear to predominate and may be stimulated by inorganic nitrogen pollution (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson, 1994; Carmichael, 1997; Paerl and Whitall, 1999; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah, 2000; Chorus, 2001; Wetzel, 2001; Anderson et al., 2002; Landsberg, 2002; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003). In the case of other groups, such as raphidophytes (with brevetoxins) and prymnesiophytes (with hemolysins), the link between inorganic N pollution and the increased occurrence of toxic algae is much less evident (Paerl and Whitall, 1999; Van Dolah, 2000; Anderson et al., 2002; Landsberg, 2002).

4.1. Toxic cyanobacteria and toxins

The prokaryotic cyanobacteria (or blue-green algae) are generally more abundant in freshwater environments than in estuarine and coastal marine ecosystems (Fogg et al., 1973; Sellner, 1997; Wetzel, 2001). Environmental conditions promoting the formation of cyanobacterial blooms seem to be ample sunlight, relatively elevated water temperature, and high concentrations of inorganic nutrients (phosphate, ammonium, nitrate) (Carmichael, 1997; Smith et al., 1999; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Chorus, 2001; Wetzel, 2001; Smith, 2003). Because cyanobacteria can fix molecular nitrogen, many limnologists have traditionally considered that elevated P concentrations is the primary mechanism for cyanobacterial dominance in eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems (see, for example, Schindler, 1977; Margalef, 1983; Harper, 1992; Reynolds, 1998; Downing et al., 2001).

Nevertheless, the process of N_2 fixation in the open (fresh and marine) waters has been basically related to the presence of cya-

nobacteria with heterocysts (e.g., *Anabaena*, *Aphanizomenon*, *Nodularia*), with non-heterocystous cyanobacteria (e.g., *Microcystis, Planktothrix*) apparently lacking the ability to fix N₂ (non-heterocystous *Trichodesmium* cyanobacteria are a remarkable exception) (Fogg et al., 1973; Riddolls, 1985; Sellner, 1997; Wetzel, 2001). Furthermore, the process of N₂ fixation is decreased or even inhibited when the N availability in the aquatic environment is elevated, probably because it requires significant amounts of reducing power and adenosine triphosphate (Fogg et al., 1973; Riddolls, 1985; Sellner, 1997; Wetzel, 2001). In consequence, the availability of ammonium or nitrate may hence be an important factor in determining which cyanobacterial species can become dominant in eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems.

The genera most often implicated in toxicity of cyanobacterial blooms are Anabaena, Aphanizomenon, Microcystis, Nodularia and Planktothrix (syn. Oscillatoria) (Carmichael, 1997; Sellner, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). Wild populations of the most common bloom-forming non-heterocystous genus, Microcystis, are almost always toxic, while species of other genera usually comprise toxic and non-toxic strains (Carmichael, 1997; Sellner, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). Laboratory and field studies have shown that toxicity of a strain ultimately depends both on whether or not it contains the gene for toxin production and on environmental factors promoting the gene expression (Dittman et al., 1996; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). However, environmental conditions leading to the dominance of toxic strains over non-toxic strains in cyanobacterial blooms are not well understood (Sellner, 1997; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002).

Major groups of toxins found in species/strains of cyanobacteria are anatoxins, microcystins, nodularins and saxitoxins (Table 4). Comparatively, neurotoxins can kill faster than hepatotoxins, but hepatotoxic microcystins are more common and ubiquitous (Carmichael, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). Although the relationship between microcystin concentrations and environmental factors seems to be complex, recent field studies have shown that levels of microcystins can strongly (but nonlinearly) correlate with total nitrogen, maximal microcystin concentrations occurring between 1.5 and 4.0 mg TN/L (Graham et al., 2004). Other cyanotoxins, such as neosaxitoxin, homoanatoxin-a, mueggelone and cylindrospermopsin, have been isolated from certain cyanobacteria, but field reports on their toxicity to aquatic animals are much more scarce (Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002).

Toxic cyanobacteria have been implicated in acute mortalities of freshwater fishes such as bluegill, bream, carp, catfish, eel, perch, pike, pikeperch, roach, sucker and trout (Persson et al., 1984; Toranzo et al., 1990; Rodger et al., 1994; Reguera et al., 1998; Giovannardi et al., 1999; Chorus, 2001; Landsberg, 2002). Toxic cyanobacteria have also caused sublethal or chronic effects (reduced feeding and fecundity) on mussels, cladocerans and copepods (Gilbert, 1990; De Mott et al., 1991; Negri and Jones, 1995; Sellner et al., 1996; Landsberg, 2002). Zooplankton species can differ markedly in their sensitivity to cyanotoxins: 48-hour LC50 values (mg/L) of purified hepatotoxic microcystins were 0.45–1.0 for the copepod *Diaptomus birget*, 9.6 for the cladoceran *Daphnia pulex*, 11.6 for the

Major groups of toxins in cyanobacteria, dinoflagellates and diatoms (Hallegraeff, 1993; Can	armichael, 1997; Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah, 2000; Chorus, 2001;
Landsberg, 2002)	

Toxins	Chemical structure	Site and mode of action	Characteristic species
Anatoxin-a	Secondary amine alkaloid	Nervous system by mimicking the action of acetylcholine, and overstimulating muscle cells	Anabaena circinalis Anabaena flos-aquae Anabaena planctonica Aphanizomenon flos-aquae
Anatoxin-a (s)	Organophosphate	Nervous system by inhibiting acetyl-cholinesterase, and overstimulating muscle cells	Anabaena flos-aquae Anabaena lemmermannii
Brevetoxins	Polycyclic ethers	Nervous system by binding to sodium channels (site 5), and disrupting nerve conduction	Karenia brevis
Domoic acid	Tricarboxylic amino acid	Nervous system by binding to kainate glutamate receptors, and causing depolarization of the neurons, with a subsequent increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} , neuronal swelling, and cell death	
Hemolysins	Fatty acids	Target cells by altering membrane function, and causing cell lysis	Alexandrium monilatum Gymnodinium aureolum Karenia mikimotoi
Microcystins	Cyclic heptapeptides	Liver, hepatopancreas by shrinking the cytoskeleton, distorting cells and causing hepatic haemorrhages, and by inhibiting protein phosphatases, and causing tumor promotion	
Nodularins	Cyclic pentapeptides	Liver, hepatopancreas by shrinking the cytoskeleton, distorting cells and causing hepatic haemorrhages, and by inhibiting protein phosphatases, and causing tumor promotion	Nodularia spumigena
Saxitoxins	Carbamate alkaloids	Nervous system by blocking sodium channels (site 1), and disrupting nerve conduction	Anabaena circinalis Aphanizomenon flos-aquae Alexandrium catenella Alexandrium tamarense Gymnodinium catenatum

cladoceran *Daphnia hyalina*, and 21.4 for the cladoceran *Dapnia pulicaria* (De Mott et al., 1991; Landsberg, 2002).

4.2. Toxic dinoflagellates and toxins

In contrast with cyanobacteria, the eukaryotic dinoflagellates (or red-brown algae) are generally more abundant in marine environments than in freshwater ecosystems (Spector, 1984; Anderson et al., 1985). Environmental conditions promoting blooms of dinoflagellates (red tides) are not completely clear, and depend in many instances on the species involved. However, the relationship between red tides and inorganic nitrogen pollution is increasing worldwide (Hallegraeff, 1993; Anderson, 1994; Richardson, 1997b; Burkholder, 1998; Reigman, 1998; Paerl and Whitall, 1999; Van Dolah, 2000; Anderson et al., 2002; Landsberg, 2002; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002; Smith, 2003). Moreover, toxic red tides have apparently caused more mortality events in populations of aquatic animals than cyanobacterial blooms (Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002).

The genera most often implicated in toxicity of red tides are *Alexandrium*, *Gymnodinium* and *Karenia* (Hallegraeff, 1993; Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002). In terms of their frequency and the range of species affected, *Karenia* blooms have been more devastating than blooms of other dinoflagellates (Hallegraeff, 1993; Landsberg, 2002). Major groups of toxins found in species/strains of these genera are brevetoxins, hemolysins and saxitoxins (Table 4). Although brevetoxins have been found in the marine dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis* (= *Gymnodinium breve*), this group of neurotoxins is better known from marine raphidophytes (Landsberg, 2002). Other toxins, such as ciguatoxins, hemolysins, yessotoxins, tetrodotoxins, pectenotoxins, have been isolated from certain dinoglagellates, but field reports on their toxicity to aquatic

animals are more limited and, in some cases, refer to benthic dinoflagellates (Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002).

Toxic dinoflagellates of the genera *Alexandrium*, *Gymnodinium* and *Karenia* have been implicated in acute mortalities of marine animals such as clams, mussels, oysters, crabs, prawns, shrimps, fishes, birds, otters, seals, dolphins, manatees and whales (Geraci et al., 1989; Granéli et al., 1990; Horstman et al., 1991; Hallegraeff, 1993; Smayda and Shimizu, 1993; Lush and Hallegraeff, 1996; Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002). Toxic dinoflagellates have also caused sublethal or chronic effects (reduced clearance rate, inhibition of shell valve activity, decreased development, lethargy and paralysis) on clams, mussels, oysters and copepods (Huntley et al., 1987; Lesser and Shumway, 1993; Turner et al., 1996; Lassus et al., 1999).

On the other hand, fish kills have also been associated with the occurrence of generalist predatory dinoflagellates of the genus *Pfiesteria* in eutrophic estuaries and coastal waters of the mid-Atlantic and south-eastern USA (Burkholder et al., 1992; Glasgow et al., 1995; Noga et al., 1996; Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002). In addition to fish kills, these dinoflagellates have been linked to mortalities of other marine animals such as shellfish, blue crabs, oysters, scallops and quahogs (Landsberg, 2002).

Pfiesteria dinoflagellates are capable of consuming a diverse range of prey (e.g., finfish, shellfish, micro-fauna, algae, bacteria), and are described as having a complex life cycle involving freeswimming flagellates, resting cysts and amoeboid forms, with toxins being produced mostly by flagellated stages (Burkholder and Glasgow, 1997; Glasgow et al., 2001; Landsberg, 2002; Burkholder et al., 2005). *P. piscicida* and *P. shumwayae* are toxic representative species that can present different strains ranging from non-toxic to highly toxic (Landsberg, 2002; Burkholder et al., 2005). The expression of toxicity by toxic strains depends greatly on culture (i.e., environmental) conditions (Burkholder et al., 2005). A hydrophilic *Pfiesteria* toxin, isolated in 1997 and consisting in a metallated organic complex, has been observed to cause neurological effects and inflammatory responses in the brain of fish and mammals (Landsberg, 2002; Levin et al., 2003; Burkholder et al., 2005).

Although *Pfiesteria* dinoflagellates are non-photosynthetic, heterotrophic organisms, there is compelling evidence that their occurrence at toxic levels coincides with the eutrophication of coastal waters, where nutrient (nitrate, mainly) enrichment enhances the growth of autotrophic algae that in turn support the proliferation of *Pfiesteria* dinoflagellates (Paerl, 1997; Burkholder, 1998; Van Dolah, 2000). These organisms may however represent a minor component of the plankton community during fish kill events, and are not typically associated with the production of discoloured waters so common to other pigmented species (Burkholder, 1998; Landsberg, 2002).

4.3. Toxic diatoms and toxins

The eukaryotic diatoms (or siliceous algae) are abundant in freshwater and marine environments (Wetzel, 2001; Rabalais and Nixon, 2002). Although some diatoms (e.g., Chaetoceros convolutus, Skeletonema costatum, Thalassiosira aestivalis) have caused gill lesions and mortality events in invertebrates and fish as a consequence of mechanical damage, other diatoms (Pseudonitzschia spp.) have been implicated in intoxications to marine animals by the synthesis of domoic acid (Table 4). This food-webtransferred neurotoxin has been detected in different marine animals such as molluscs, crustaceans, cephalopods, fishes, birds and mammals, in some cases causing significant mortality events in cormorants, pelicans and sea lions (Work et al., 1992; Sierra Beltran et al., 1997; Scholin et al., 2000; Pan et al., 2001; Gulland et al., 2002; Landsberg, 2002; Lefebvre et al., 2002; Costa et al., 2004; Busse et al., 2006). In addition, certain laboratory studies have demonstrated that domoic acid can cause direct toxicity to copepods and anchovies at very low concentrations and, consequently, these marine animals might be adversely affected by domoic acid during toxic diatom blooms (Shaw et al., 1997; Lefebvre et al., 2001; Landsberg, 2002).

Nine species of the ubiquitous marine genus Pseudo-nitzschia have now been identified to produce domoic acid (P. australis, P. delicatissima, P. fraudulenta, P. multiseries, P. multistriata, P. pseudodelicatissima, P. pungens, P. seriata and P. turgidula) (Pan et al., 2001; Landsberg, 2002; Costa et al., 2004; Busse et al., 2006). Furthermore, the abundance of toxic Pseudo-nitzschia diatoms has apparently increased in several areas of the world (the northern Gulf of Mexico, the coasts of Washington and British Columbia, the Irish and Scottish waters) (Dortch et al., 1997; Adams et al., 2000; Cusack et al., 2002; Parsons et al., 2002; Fehling et al., 2004b; Marchetti et al., 2004). This increased abundance has been related to nutrient enrichment on continental shelves, with inorganic nitrogen pollution (nitrate, mainly) being an important causative factor (Dortch et al., 1997; Adams et al., 2000; Cusack et al., 2002; Parsons et al., 2002; Fehling et al., 2004b; Marchetti et al., 2004). Certain field and laboratory studies also suggest that inorganic nitrogen pollution might induce a higher production of domoic acid in toxic diatoms as a result of decreased Si:N loading ratios (i.e., Si-limiting conditions) (Turner et al., 1998; Turner, 2002; Fehling et al., 2004a,b).

5. Toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds

Aquatic animals are, in general, better adapted to relatively low levels of inorganic nitrogen since natural (unpolluted) ecosystems often are not N saturated and natural concentrations of inorganic nitrogenous compounds usually are not elevated (Wetzel, 2001; Constable et al., 2003; Jensen, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005a). Therefore, high levels of ammonia, nitrite and nitrate, derived from human activities, can impair the ability of aquatic animals to survive, grow and reproduce, resulting in direct (acute or chronic) toxicity of these inorganic nitrogenous compounds (Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a; Philips et al., 2002; Constable et al., 2003; Jensen, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005a).

5.1. Ammonia toxicity

The ionized ammonia (NH₄⁺) and unionized ammonia (NH₃) are interrelated through the chemical equilibrium NH₄⁺⁻ OH⁻ \leftrightarrow NH₃·H₂O \leftrightarrow NH₃+H₂O (Emerson et al., 1975; Russo, 1985). The relative concentrations of NH₄⁺ and NH₃ are basically dependent on the pH and temperature of the water: as values of pH and temperature tend to increase, the concentration of NH₃ also increases but the concentration of NH₄⁺ decreases. The concentration of total ammonia is the sum of NH₄⁺ and NH₃ concentrations, and it is total ammonia that is analytically measured in water samples. To estimate the relative concentrations of NH₄⁺ and NH₃ from total ammonia, Emerson et al.'s (1975) formulas are recommended (Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a).

Unionized ammonia is very toxic to aquatic animals, particularly to fish, whereas ionized ammonia is nontoxic or appreciably less toxic (Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a; Environment Canada, 2001; Constable et al., 2003). Moreover, unionized ammonia can cause toxicity to *Nitrosomonas* and *Nitrobacter* bacteria, inhibiting the nitrification process (Anthonisen et al., 1976; Russo, 1985). This inhibition can also result in increased accumulation of NH_4^+ (plus NH_3) in the aquatic environment, intensifying the toxicity to bacteria and aquatic animals (Russo, 1985).

The toxic action of unionized ammonia on aquatic animals, particularly on fish, may be due to one or more of the following causes (Tomasso et al., 1980; Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a; Environment Canada, 2001; Augspurger et al., 2003): (1) damage to the gill epithelium causing asphyxiation; (2) stimulation of glycolisis and suppression of Krebs cycle causing progressive acidosis and reduction in blood oxygen-carrying capacity; (3) uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation causing inhibition of ATP production and depletion of ATP in the basilar region of the brain; (4) disruption of blood vessels and osmoregulatory activity upsetting the liver and kidneys; (5) repression of immune system increasing the susceptibility to bacterial and parasitic diseases. In addition, ammonium ions can contribute to ammonia toxicity by reducing internal Na⁺ to

possibly fatally low levels (Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Environment Canada, 2001; Augspurger et al., 2003). These negative physiological effects can result in reduced feeding activity, fecundity and survivorship, decreasing populations sizes of aquatic animals (Environment Canada, 2001; Constable et al., 2003; Alonso and Camargo, 2004; Alonso, 2005).

Several environmental factors can affect ammonia toxicity to aquatic animals. In the case of fish, the most important factors are pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, salinity and calcium (Tomasso et al., 1980; Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a; Environment Canada, 2001; Augspurger et al., 2003). An increase in the pH value of the water at the gill surface induces an increase in the concentration of unionized ammonia that may be absorbed through the gill epithelium. Similarly, an increase in the water temperature will increase the concentration of unionized ammonia at the gill surface. A reduction in the level of dissolved oxygen (O2) in the water can increase the susceptibility of fish to ammonia toxicity. In contrast, increases in salinity and calcium (Ca^{2+}) concentration in the water can reduce the susceptibility of fish to ammonia toxicity. The susceptibility of fish can also decrease due to acclimation to high environmental levels of ammonia (Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Environment Canada, 2001; Augspurger et al., 2003). On the other hand, mixtures of ammonia and other chemical pollutants, such as copper, cyanide, phenol, zinc and chlorine (with the formation of inorganic chloramines), may result in additive toxicity or even cause synergistic effects (Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Environment Canada, 2001).

Although numerous field observations have recorded fish kills following anthropogenic discharges containing high levels of total ammonia (Adams and Bealing, 1994; Environment Canada, 2001; Constable et al., 2003), concentrations of unionized ammonia causing direct toxicity to aquatic animals have been examined by laboratory studies (Tomasso et al., 1980; Alabaster and Lloyd, 1982; Russo, 1985; Adams and Bealing, 1994; Richardson, 1997a; Environment Canada, 2001; Augspurger et al., 2003; Alonso and Camargo, 2004; Alonso, 2005). Among the different taxonomic groups of aquatic animals that have been exposed to ammonia toxicity, certain freshwater invertebrates (molluscs, planarians) and fishes (salmonids) seem to be the most sensitive (Table 5), exhibiting acute toxicities (30–60-day LOEC and 72-day LC_{50}) of 0.05 mg NH₃–N/L.

On the basis of acute and chronic toxicity data, water quality criteria, ranging $0.05-0.35 \text{ mg NH}_3-N/L$ for short-term exposures and $0.01-0.02 \text{ mg NH}_3-N/L$ for long-term exposures, have been estimated and recommended to protect sensitive aquatic animals (US Environmental Protection Agency, 1986, 1999; Environment Canada, 2001; Constable et al., 2003; Alonso, 2005).

5.2. Nitrite toxicity

The nitrite ion (NO_2^-) and unionized nitrous acid (HNO_2) are interrelated through the chemical equilibrium $NO_2^- + H^+ \leftrightarrow HNO_2$ (Russo et al., 1981; Russo, 1985). The relative concentrations of NO_2^- and HNO_2 are basically dependent on the pH of the water: as the value of pH tends to increase, the concentration of NO_2^- can also increase but the concentration of HNO_2 decreases. The HNO_2 concentration is 4–5 orders of magnitude less than the NO_2^- concentration within the pH range 7.5–8.5 (Russo et al., 1981; Russo, 1985). To estimate the concentration of unionized nitrous acid from the analytically measured nitrite concentration, Russo et al.'s (1981) equation may be used (Russo, 1985).

Both chemical species, nitrite ion and unionized nitrous acid, may contribute to the total toxicity of nitrite to aquatic animals (Russo et al., 1981; Russo, 1985). Furthermore, as in the case of unionized ammonia, HNO₂ can cause toxicity to *Nitrosomonas* and *Nitrobacter* bacteria, inhibiting the nitrification process (Anthonisen et al., 1976; Russo, 1985). This inhibition can also result in increased accumulation of NO_2^- (plus HNO₂) in the aquatic environment, intensifying the toxicity to bacteria and aquatic animals (Russo, 1985). Nevertheless, because in aquatic ecosystems the NO_2^- concentration usually is much higher than the HNO₂ concentration, nitrite ions are considered to be major responsible for nitrite toxicity to aquatic animals (Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Tahon et al., 1988; Chen and Chen, 1992; Jensen, 2003).

The main toxic action of nitrite on aquatic animals, particularly on fish and crayfish, is due to the conversion of oxygen-carrying pigments to forms that are incapable of carrying oxygen, causing hypoxia and ultimately death. In fish, entry of nitrite into the red blood cells is associated with the oxidation of iron atoms (Fe²⁺ \rightarrow Fe³⁺), functional hemoglobin being converted into methemoglobin that is unable to release oxygen to body tissues because of its high dissociation constant (Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Jensen, 2003). Similarly, in crayfish, entry of nitrite into the blood plasma is associated with the oxidation of copper atoms ($Cu^{1+} \rightarrow Cu^{2+}$), whereby functional hemocyanin is converted into methemocyanin that cannot bind reversibly to molecular oxygen (Tahon et al., 1988; Chen and Chen, 1992; Jensen, 2003). In addition, the following toxic effects of nitrite on fish and crayfish have been found (Lewis and Morris, 1986; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Harris and Coley, 1991; Jensen, 2003): (1) depletion of extracellular and intracellular Cl⁻ levels causing severe electrolyte imbalance; (2) depletion of intracellular K⁺ and elevation of extracellular K⁺ levels affecting membrane potentials, neurotransmission, skeletal muscle contractions, and heart function; (3) formation of N-nitroso compounds that are mutagenic and carcinogenic; (4) damage to mitochondria in liver cells causing tissue O_2 shortage; (5) repression of immune system decreasing the tolerance to bacterial and parasitic diseases.

Among the different environmental factors that can affect nitrite toxicity to aquatic animals, the water chloride concentration seems to be the most important. Because, in the gills of fish and crayfish, nitrite ions enter via the same route as chloride ions by being competitive inhibitors of the active branchial chloride uptake mechanism, elevated Cl⁻ concentrations in the ambient water may inhibit the NO₂⁻ uptake and thereby protect fish and crayfish against nitrite toxicity (Tomasso et al., 1979; Gutzmer and Tomasso, 1985; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Harris and Coley, 1991; Jensen, 2003). Calcium (Ca²⁺) and seawater (probably because of the high concentration of chloride and other ions) also can significantly reduce nitrite toxicity to fish and crayfish (Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Jensen, 2003). Moreover,

Table 5						
Ammonia	toxicity to	sensitive	freshwater	invertebrates	and	fishes

Species	Toxicological parameters	References
Villosa iris (mollusc; juveniles)	0.11 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Mummert et al., 2003
Lampsilis cardium (mollusc; juveniles)	0.15 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Newton et al., 2003
Lampsilis fasciola (mollusc; juveniles)	0.26 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Mummert et al., 2003
Polycelis felina (planarian; adults)	0.39 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.05 (30 d LOEC)	Alonso, 2005
Sphaerium novaezelandiae (mollusc; juveniles)	0.49 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.05 (60 d LOEC)	Hickey and Vickers, 1994; Hickey and Martin, 1999
Polycelis tenuis (planarian; adults)	0.58 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Williams et al., 1986
Eulimnogammarus toletanus (amphipod; adults)	0.65 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.09 (96 h LC _{0.01})	Alonso and Camargo, 2004
Oncorhynchus gorbuscha (salmonid; fry)	0.08 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Rice and Bailey, 1980
Oncorhynchus mykiss (salmonid; alevins)	0.16-0.37 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.05 (72 d LC ₅₀)	Calamari et al., 1977
Salmo salar (salmonid; fry)	0.23 (24 h LC ₅₀)	Herbert and Shurben, 1965
Perca fluviatilis (percoid; fry)	0.29 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Ball, 1967
Rutilus rutilus (cyprinid; fry)	0.35 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Ball, 1967

Values of toxicological parameters (LC₅₀, LC_{0.01}, LOEC), at different exposure times (hours or days), are expressed in mg NH₃-N/L.

several studies on the physiological effects of nitrite in teleosts and crustaceans suggest that the susceptibility to nitrite toxicity can decrease because of acclimation to high environmental levels of nitrite (Lewis and Morris, 1986; Jensen, 2003).

Anthropogenic discharges containing elevated nitrite concentrations have been associated with fish kills in aquatic ecosystems (Lewis and Morris, 1986; Philips et al., 2002). However, as in the case of ammonia, nitrite concentrations causing direct toxicity to aquatic animals have been examined by laboratory studies (Tomasso et al., 1979; Russo et al., 1981; Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Eddy and Williams, 1987; Tahon et al., 1988; Chen and Chen, 1992; Jensen, 2003; Alonso, 2005). These studies have shown that seawater animals are more tolerant to nitrite toxicity than freshwater animals, probably because of the ameliorating effect of chloride ions on the tolerance of aquatic animals (Russo, 1985; Lewis and Morris, 1986; Jensen, 2003; Alonso, 2005). Among the different taxonomic groups of freshwater invertebrates and fish that have been exposed to nitrite toxicity, certain crustaceans (decapods, amphipods), insects (ephemeropterans), and fishes (salmonids, cyprinids) seem to be the most sensitive (Table 6), exhibiting acute toxicities (96-hour LC_{50}) lower than 3 mg NO₂–N/L and short-term safe levels (96-hour $LC_{0.01}$) lower than 0.25 mg NO₂-N/L.

On the basis of acute toxicity data, Alonso (2005) has recently estimated water quality criteria, ranging 0.08-0.35 mg NO₂-N/L, that may be adequate to protect sensitive aquatic animals, at least during short-term exposures.

5.3. Nitrate toxicity

The nitrate ion (NO_3^-) does not form an unionized species in the aquatic environment (i.e., HNO₃ is completely dissociated to H⁺ and NO₃⁻), and consequently nitrate toxicity to aquatic animals is due to nitrate ions (Russo, 1985; Camargo et al., 2005a).

As in the case of nitrite, the main toxic action of nitrate on aquatic animals, particularly on fish and crayfish, seems to be the conversion of oxygen-carrying pigments (hemoglobin, hemocyanin) to forms that are incapable of carrying oxygen (methemoglobin, methemocyanin) (Jensen, 1996; Scott and Crunkilton, 2000; Cheng et al., 2002). In fact, before it becomes toxic, nitrate must be converted into nitrite under internal body conditions (Cheng and Chen, 2002). Nevertheless, owing to the low branchial permeability to nitrate ions, the NO₃ uptake in aquatic animals is more limited than the NO₂ uptake, which contributes to the relatively low toxicity of nitrate (Jensen, 1996; Scott and Crunkilton, 2000; Cheng and Chen, 2002; Alonso and Camargo, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005a).

The toxicity of nitrate ions in aquatic ecosystems has been traditionally considered to be irrelevant (Russo, 1985; Camargo et al., 2005a), despite the fact that elevated nitrate concentrations can actually exceed values as high as 25 mg NO₃–N/L in surface waters and 100 mg NO₃–N/L in ground waters (Gleick, 1993; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, 1993; Steinheimer et al., 1998). Furthermore, several laboratory studies have shown that a nitrate concentration of 10 mg NO₃–N/L (USA federal maximum level for drinking water) can adversely affect, at least during long-term exposures, sensitive aquatic animals (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, 2003; Camargo et al., 2005a).

Freshwater animals appear to be more sensitive to nitrate toxicity than seawater animals, owing to the likely ameliorating effect of water salinity (Camargo et al., 2005a). However, early developmental stages of some marine invertebrates, naturally well adapted to low nitrate concentrations, may be so sensitive to nitrate ions as freshwater animals despite the ameliorating effect of water salinity (Muir et al., 1991). Among the different taxonomic groups of freshwater invertebrates and fish that have been exposed to nitrate toxicity, certain caddisflies, amphipods, and salmonid fishes seem to be the most sensitive (Table 7), exhibiting short-term safe levels (120-hour LC_{0.01}) and no-observed effect concentrations (30-day NOEC) lower than 5 mg NO₃–N/L.

The sensitivity of certain amphibians to nitrate toxicity may be high and similar to that of sensitive freshwater invertebrates and fishes (Table 7), though their tolerance can increase with increasing body size and environmental adaptation (Schuytema and Nebeker, 1999; Johansson et al., 2001). Current field data suggest that nitrogen-based fertilizers, such as ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃), potassium nitrate (KNO₃) and sodium nitrate (NaNO₃), may be contributing to the decline of amphibian

Table 6 Nitrite toxicity to sensitive freshwater invertebrates and fishes

Species	Toxicological parameters	References
Cherax quadricarinatus (decapod; adults)	1.03 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Rouse et al., 1995
Hexagenia sp. (ephemeropteran; larvae)	1.40 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Kelso et al., 1999
Eulimnogammarus toletanus (amphipod; adults)	2.09 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.18 (96 h LC _{0.01})	Alonso, 2005
Ephemerella sp. (ephemeropteran; larvae)	2.50 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Kelso et al., 1999
Echinogammarus echinosetosus (amphipod; adults)	2.59 (96 h LC ₅₀) 0.21 (96 h LC _{0.01})	Alonso, 2005
Gammarus fasciatus (amphipod; adults)	5.89 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Ewell et al., 1986
Procambarus clarkii (decapod; adults)	8.91 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Gutzmer and Tomasso, 1985
Helisoma trivolvis (mollusc; adults)	10.9 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Ewell et al., 1986
Oncorhynchus mykiss (salmonid; fry)	0.1-0.4 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Russo et al., 1981
Salmo clarki (salmonid; fry)	0.5-0.6 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Thurston et al., 1978
Oncorhynchus tshawytscha(salmonid; fry)	0.9 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Westin, 1974
Pimephales promelas (cyprinid; fry)	2.3-3.0 (96 h LC ₅₀)	Russo and Thurston, 1977

Values of toxicological parameters (LC50, LC001), at an exposure time of 96 h, are expressed in mg NO2-N/L.

populations in agricultural areas because of impaired swimming ability, decreased body size, and reduced fecundity and survivorship (Hecnar, 1995; Birge et al., 2000).

On the basis of toxicity data, the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (2003) has recommended water quality criteria, ranging $2.9-3.6 \text{ mg NO}_3-\text{N/L}$, to protect freshwater and marine life, and Camargo et al. (2005a) have recently proposed a maximum level of 2 mg NO₃-N/L for the protection of sensitive aquatic animals.

6. Adverse effects on human health and economy

There is no doubt that the increased use of inorganic fertilizers and fossil fuels around the world has brought enormous health and economic benefits to humans, dramatically increasing food production and human population. Nevertheless, because human society is greatly dependent on surface and ground water resources, as well as on fish and shellfish harvesting, it should be evident that the excessive nitrogen pollution of aquatic ecosystems can cause adverse effects on human health and economy.

6.1. Effects on human health

Ingested nitrates and nitrites, from polluted drinking water, can induce methemoglobinemia in humans by the reduction of

nitrates to nitrites, under anaerobic conditions in the digestive tract, and the subsequent blockade of the oxygen-carrying capacity of hemoglobin, resulting in methemoglobin (Craun et al., 1981; Nash, 1993; Ayebo et al., 1997; Knobeloch et al., 2000; Fwetrell, 2004; Greer and Shannon, 2005). Normal levels of methemoglobin in human blood can range from 1 to 3%, and reduced oxygen transport is clinically noted when methemoglobin levels reach 10% or more (Knobeloch et al., 2000; Fwetrell, 2004). Typical symptoms of methemoglobinemia are cyanosis, headache, stupor, fatigue, tachycardia, coma, convulsions, asphyxia and ultimately death (Craun et al., 1981; Nash, 1993; Ayebo et al., 1997; Knobeloch et al., 2000; Fwetrell, 2004; Greer and Shannon, 2005). Infants less than 4 months of age seem to be particularly susceptible because of their greater fluid intake relative to body weight, their higher proportion of readily oxidizable fetal hemoglobin, their lower methemoglobin reductase activity (a red blood cell enzyme that converts methemoglobin back to hemoglobin), their higher gastric pH (which allows greater invasion of bacteria and enhances conversion of ingested nitrates to nitrites), and their increased susceptibility to gastroenteritis (Craun et al., 1981; Ayebo et al., 1997; Knobeloch et al., 2000; Greer and Shannon, 2005).

Since 1945 more than 3000 cases of methemoglobinemia have been reported worldwide, most of which were associated with private wells with high nitrate concentrations (>10 mg NO_3 –N/L)

Table 7

Nitrate toxicity to sensitive freshwater invertebrates, fishes, and amphibians

Species	Toxicological parameters	References	
<i>Echinogammarus echinosetosus</i> (amphipod; adults)	62.5 (96 h LC ₅₀) 2.8 (120 h LC _{0.01})	Camargo et al., 2005a	
<i>Eulimnogammarus toletanus</i> (amphipod; adults)	$85.0 (96 \text{ h LC}_{50}) 4.4 (120 \text{ h LC}_{0.01})$	Camargo et al., 2005a	
Hydropsyche occidentalis (caddisfly; larvae)	97.3 (96 h LC_{50}) 4.5 (120 h $LC_{0.01}$)	Camargo and Ward, 1992b; Camargo and Ward, 1995	
Cheumatopsyche pettiti (caddisfly; larvae)	113.5 (96 h LC ₅₀) 6.7 (120 h LC _{0.01})	Camargo and Ward, 1992b; Camargo and Ward, 1995	
Hydropsyche exocellata (caddisfly; larvae)	269.5 (96 h LC ₅₀) 11.9 (120 h LC _{0.01})	Camargo et al., 2005a	
Ceriodaphnia dubia (cladoceran; neonates)	374 (48 h LC ₅₀) 7.1–56.5 (7 d NOEC)	Scott and Crunkilton, 2000	
Oncorhynchus mykiss (salmonid; fry)	2.3 (30 d LOEC) 1.1 (30 d NOEC)	Kincheloe et al., 1979	
Oncorhynchus tshawytscha (salmonid; fry)	4.5 (30 d LOEC) 2.3 (30 d NOEC)	Kincheloe et al., 1979	
Salmo clarki (salmonid; fry)	7.6 (30 d LOEC) 4.5 (30 d NOEC)	Kincheloe et al., 1979	
Pseudacris triseriata (anuran; tadpoles)	17.0 (96 h LC ₅₀) 10.0 (100 d LOEC)	Hecnar, 1995	
Rana pipiens (anuran; tadpoles)	22.6 (96 h LC ₅₀) 10.0 (100 d LOEC)	Hecnar, 1995	
Rana temporaria (anuran; larvae)	5.0 (56 d LOEC)	Johansson et al., 2001	

Values of toxicological parameters (LC50, LC001, LOEC, NOEC), at different exposure times (hours or days), are expressed in mg NO3-N/L.

(Nash, 1993; World Health Organization, 1996; Ayebo et al., 1997; Knobeloch et al., 2000; Wolfe and Patz, 2002). On the basis of case data, and because nitrates are endogenously reduced to nitrites at an average percentage of 5 to 10%, maximum contaminant levels of 10 mg NO₃-N/L and 1 mg NO₂-N/L for drinking water have been recommended to prevent methemoglobinemia in humans (US Environmental Protection Agency, 1986; World Health Organization, 1996; Wolfe and Patz, 2002). Nevertheless, Fwetrell (2004) has recently indicated that nitrate (and nitrite) may be one of a number of co-factors that play a sometimes complex role in causing methemoglobinemia and, consequently, it would be inappropriate to attempt to link illness rates with drinking-water nitrate levels. Greer and Shannon (2005) have also reported that breastfeeding infants are not at risk of methemoglobinemia even when mothers ingest water with very high nitrate concentrations (100 mg NO₃-N/L).

Ingested nitrates and nitrites also have a potential role in developing cancers of the digestive tract through their contribution to the bacterial formation of N-nitroso compounds (i.e., nitrosamines), which are among the most potent of the known carcinogens in mammals (Nash, 1993; Knobeloch et al., 2000; Wolfe and Patz, 2002; Fwetrell, 2004). A likely and common means of synthesizing nitrosamines in the digestive tract, particularly in the stomach, seems to be the low-pH reaction of a secondary amine and nitrite, resulting in the formation of dimethylnitrosamines (Manahan, 1992). Carcinogenicity by dimethylnitrosamines (Nnitrosodimethylamines) may result from short-term exposure to a single large dose or from chronic exposure to relatively small doses, with DNA alkylation as the main carcinogenic mechanism (Manahan, 1992; Wolfe and Patz, 2002). In some cases, long-term consumption of drinking water with nitrate concentrations even below the maximum contaminant level of 10 mg NO₃-N/L may stimulate the endogenous formation of nitrosamines (Van Maanen et al., 1996; Townsend et al., 2003).

On the other hand, some scientific evidences suggest that ingested nitrates and nitrites might result in mutagenicity. teratogenicity and birth defects (Dorsch et al., 1984; Luca et al., 1987), contribute to the risks of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (Ward et al., 1996), coronary heart disease (Cerhan et al., 2001), and bladder and ovarian cancers (Weyer et al., 2001), play a role in the etiology of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (Virtanen et al., 1994; Parslow et al., 1997; Van Maanen et al., 2000) and in the development of thyroid hypertrophy (Van Maanen et al., 1994), or cause spontaneous abortions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1996) and respiratory tract infections (Gupta et al., 2000). Long-term consumption of drinking water with nitrate concentrations even below the maximum contaminant level of 10 mg NO₃-N/L has been linked to higher risks for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (Ward et al., 1996) and for bladder and ovarian cancers (Weyer et al., 2001).

Indirect health hazards can occur as a consequence of algal toxins. Several laboratory studies have indeed shown that toxins from cyanobacteria and dinoflagellates may be very toxic to mammals: LD_{50} values (µg/kg body weight) in mouse for intraperitoneal administration of purified toxins have been estimated to be 10–30 for neurotoxic saxitoxins (Sasner et al., 1984; Chorus, 2001), 30–50 for hepatotoxic nodularins (Main et al.,

1977; Eriksson et al., 1988), 20–200 for neurotoxic anatoxins (Devlin et al., 1977; Matsunaga et al., 1989; Carmichael, 1997), 50–300 for hepatotoxic microcystins (Botes et al., 1982; Dawson, 1998; Chorus, 2001), and 500 for neurotoxic brevetoxins (Baden, 1989; Landsberg, 2002). Toxicity of domoic acid from *Pseudo-nitzschia* diatoms seems to be lower: in rats, the LD₅₀ value for intraperitoneal administration of purified toxin was estimated to be 4.000 μ g/kg body weight (Iverson et al., 1989; Van Dolah, 2000).

Blooms of toxic cyanobacteria (*Anabaena*, *Microcystis* and *Planktothrix*, mainly) in water storage reservoirs, lakes and rivers, leading to adverse health effects (eye irritation, skin rash, fever, vomiting, diarrhoea, pneumonia, gastroenteritis, hepatoenteritis, muscular cramps) following consumption of contaminated drinking water or after recreational exposure, have been reported from Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Sweden, United Kingdom, USA and other countries (Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Chorus, 2001). In some instances, human exposures to cyanotoxins were lethal, with children being the most affected (Teixera et al., 1993; Hitzfeld et al., 2000). The consumption of dietary supplements, made from blue-green algae, may also be another important route of exposure to cyanobacterial toxins, particularly to microcystins (Gilroy et al., 2000).

Blooms of toxic dinoflagellates in estuaries and coastal waters, leading to several poisoning syndromes following consumption of contaminated seafood or after water or aerosol exposure, have been reported from Australia, Europe, Japan, North America, Southeast Asia and other parts of the world (Van Dolah, 2000; Van Dolah et al., 2001). The paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) and the neurotoxic shellfish poisoning (NSP) are syndromes often associated with red tides (Van Dolah, 2000): PSP is caused by the consumption of molluscan shellfish contaminated with saxitoxins (from Alexandrium and Gymnodinium, mainly). Clinical symptoms of PSP are tingling and numbness of the perioral area and extremities, loss of motor control, drowsiness, incoherence, and respiratory paralysis; NSP generally results from the consumption of molluscan shellfish contaminated with brevetoxins (from Karenia brevis). Clinical symptoms of NSP include nausea, tingling and numbness of the perioral area and extremities, loss of motor control, and severe muscular ache. On a global basis, more than 2000 cases of human intoxications by PSP and NSP are reported per year, but only for PSP some intoxications have been fatal (Van Dolah, 2000; Van Dolah et al., 2001).

Aerosol exposure to toxic *Pfiesteria* dinoflagellates was linked to a human intoxication syndrome, the possible estuary associated syndrome (PEAS), during the 1990s large-scale mortality events among fish and other aquatic organisms in eutrophic estuaries and coastal waters on the eastern seaboard of North America (Glasgow et al., 1995; Van Dolah, 2000; Hudnell, 2005). PEAS is characterized by multiple-system symptoms including fatigue, headache, respiratory irritation, skin lesions or burning sensations on contact, disorientation, deficits in cognitive function, memory loss, and rapid and severe decrements in visual contrast sensitivity (Glasgow et al., 1995; Van Dolah, 2000; Hudnell, 2005). Currently, there is no evidence that toxicity of *Pfiesteria* dinoflagellates may be transferred through seafood (Van Dolah, 2000; Hudnell, 2005).

Domoic acid was not suspected as a health hazard for humans before 1987 (Wright et al., 1989; Todd, 1993). On that year, more than 100 people became ill and 3 died after consuming contaminated blue mussels in Prince Edward Island, Canada (Todd, 1993; Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002). The source of domoic acid was the diatom Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries, causing the amnesic shellfish poisoning (ASP) syndrome (Wright et al., 1989; Todd, 1993). Clinical symptoms of ASP are nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, abdominal cramps, reduced consciousness, confusion, disorientation, lethargy, seizures, and permanent loss of short-term memory (Todd, 1993; Van Dolah, 2000; Landsberg, 2002). Individuals found most susceptible were the elderly and those with impaired renal function resulting in poor toxin clearance (Todd, 1993; Van Dolah, 2000). However, no human outbreaks of ASP have apparently occurred since the original 1987 incident in Canada (Van Dolah, 2000; Thessen et al., 2005; Busse et al., 2006).

Other indirect health hazards can also come from the potential relationship between inorganic nitrogen pollution and human infectious diseases since increasing nutrient availability may often favour opportunistic, disease-causing organisms (Townsend et al., 2003). Several studies have shown positive correlations between concentrations of inorganic nutrients in surface waters and larval abundances for Anopheles, Culex and Aedes mosquitoes which may be carriers of pathogenic micro-organisms causing malaria, La Crosse encephalitis, Japanese encephalitis, and West Nile virus (Rejmankova et al., 1991; Walker et al., 1991; Teng et al., 1998; Toth and Melton, 2000; Townsend et al., 2003). However, because not all such correlations are positive, concurrent increases in mosquitoes and eutrophic conditions are probably species, site, and season specific (Townsend et al., 2003). Finally, high nutrient conditions favouring coastal algal blooms have been associated with some cholera outbreaks (Epstein, 1993, Colwell and Huq, 2001; Townsend et al., 2003).

6.2. Effects on human economy

Human sickness and death, resulting directly (e.g., ingested nitrates and nitrites from polluted drinking water) or indirectly (e.g., aerosol exposure to algal toxins, consumption of contaminated seafood causing poisoning syndromes) from inorganic nitrogen pollution, can have elevated economic costs because of lost wages and work days, and because of medical treatment and investigation (Van Dolah et al., 2001; Hoagland et al., 2002; Van den Bergh et al., 2002; Wolfe and Patz, 2002). For example, the annual average estimate of the public health costs of illnesses due to shellfish poisoning in USA could range from \$400 thousand to \$2 million (Todd, 1989; Hoagland et al., 2002). Moreover, individuals who become sick and experience strong pain and suffering could develop further psychological disorders with long-term medical treatments.

Extensive kills of both invertebrates and fishes (wild or cultured stocks) may result in much higher economic costs because of reduced yields of desirable fish and shellfish species, and because of the subsequent contraction of consumer demand usually associated with closing of commercially important fisheries (Van Dolah et al., 2001; Hoagland et al., 2002; Philips et

al., 2002; Smith, 2003). For example, Tester et al. (1991) estimated total commercial harvest losses of clams, oysters, scallops and finfish to be about \$8 million during a November 1987 to February 1988 *K. brevis* bloom in North Carolina (USA), and Hoagland et al. (2002) estimated total economic effects of \$18 million arising from the deaths of farmed Atlantic salmon killed by phytoplankton blooms during 1987, 1989 and 1990 in Washington (USA).

Other collateral effects can also have elevated costs on human economy (Hitzfeld et al., 2000; Van Dolah et al., 2001; Hoagland et al., 2002; Philips et al., 2002; Van den Bergh et al., 2002; Doka et al., 2003; Smith, 2003): (1) taste and odor problems in drinking water supplies; (2) additional improvements in water treatment procedures (e.g., activated carbon adsorption, chemical coagulation, liming, ozonation, ultrafiltration); (3) increased expenditures in monitoring and management of water pollution, including cleanup and restoration procedures; (4) decreases in the perceived aesthetic value of water bodies; (5) reduced use of degraded aquatic ecosystems for recreation and tourism.

Although the economic costs in the last category are highly uncertain and, consequently, very difficult to estimate, many experts consider that negative effects on the recreation and tourism industry may be responsible for the most important economic impacts, at least locally (Van Dolah et al., 2001; Hoagland et al., 2002; Smith, 2003).

7. Concluding remarks

This global assessment, with detailed multi-scale data, has clearly shown that inorganic nitrogen pollution of aquatic ecosystems may result in three major environmental problems: water acidification, cultural eutrophication (including occurrence of toxic algae), and direct toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds (ammonia, nitrite and nitrate). Water acidification adversely affects freshwater ecosystems without much acidneutralizing capacity (Table 2). Cultural eutrophication and toxicity of ammonia, nitrite and nitrate can however affect many aquatic ecosystems. In general, freshwater animals seem to be more sensitive to the toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds than seawater animals, with nitrate being less toxic than ammonia and nitrite in any case (Tables 5, 6 and 7).

Extensive kills of invertebrates and fishes, particularly sensitive benthic species, are probably the most dramatic manifestation of hypoxia (or anoxia) in eutrophic and hypereutrophic aquatic ecosystems with low water turnover rates (Table 3). The decline in dissolved oxygen concentrations can also promote the formation of reduced compounds, such as hydrogen sulphide, resulting in higher adverse (toxic) effects on aquatic animals. Moreover, occurrence of toxic algae can significantly contribute to the extensive kills of aquatic animals. Cyanobacteria, dinoflagellates and diatoms appear to be major responsible that may be stimulated by inorganic nitrogen pollution (Table 4): in freshwater ecosystems, the most common bloom-forming non-heterocystous cyanobacterial genus, Microcystis, and its hepatotoxic microcystins; in estuarine and coastal marine ecosystems, dinoflagellates of the genera Alexandrium, Gymnodinium and Karenia, with neurotoxic saxitoxins and brevetoxins,

and domoic acid-producing diatoms of the ubiquitous marine genus *Pseudo-nitzschia*.

Because anthropogenic inputs of particulate nitrogen and organic nitrogen can also contribute to the inorganic nitrogen pollution of aquatic ecosystems (National Research Council, 2000; Smil, 2001), and because several studies indicate that total nitrogen (TN) may be related more strongly with algal biomass and toxin production than is dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) (Dodds et al., 1997, 1998; Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2000; Turner, 2002; Turner et al., 2003b; Fehling et al., 2004a,b; Graham et al., 2004), we consider that TN criteria are more appropriate than DIN criteria for preventing impacts by inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems. In consequence, and taking into account the whole information exposed above, we can conclude that TN levels lower than the range 0.5-1.0 mg/L might prevent aquatic ecosystems (excluding those ecosystems with naturally high N levels) from developing acidification and eutrophication, at least by inorganic nitrogen pollution. These relatively low levels of total nitrogen could also protect aquatic animals against the toxicity of inorganic nitrogenous compounds since, in the absence of eutrophication, surface waters usually present relatively high concentrations of dissolved oxygen, most of the dissolved inorganic nitrogen being in the form of nitrate. In addition, human health and economy would be safer from the adverse effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution.

It should be evident that humans must drastically reduce anthropogenic N inputs to the environment. Otherwise, ecological and toxicological effects of inorganic nitrogen pollution in aquatic ecosystems may become worse, especially under expected changes in global climatic conditions (Mann et al., 1998). Increased warming and decreased rainfall in some continental areas (e.g., in southern Spain) might lead to a higher occurrence of toxicity processes in freshwater ecosystems because of elevated concentrations of inorganic nitrogen compounds (resulting from reduced dilution), and because of increased metabolism in ectothermic aquatic animals. Additionally, increases in water temperature might stimulate or enhance the development, maintenance and proliferation of primary producers, resulting in a higher occurrence of eutrophication processes and toxic algal blooms.

Acknowledgements

Funds for this research came from the Ministry of Science and Technology (research project REN2001-1008/HID) in Spain. The University of Alcala provided logistical support. Álvaro Alonso was supported by a predoctoral grant from the Council of Castilla-La Mancha. This work was presented at the 6th Iberian and 3rd Iberoamerican Congress on Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, held in Cadiz (Spain) from 25 to 28 September of 2005. We are grateful to Cristina Gonzalo-Gómez for her help during the search for information. We also want to express our sincere gratitude to two anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions.

References

- Adams N, Bealing D. Organic pollution: biochemical oxygen demand and ammonia. In: Calow P, editor. Handbook of ecotoxicology, vol. 2. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications; 1994. p. 264–85.
- Adams NG, Lesoing M, Trainer VL. Environmental conditions associated with domoic acid in razor clams on the Washington coast. J Shellfish Res 2000;19:1007–15.
- Alabaster JS, Lloyd R. Water quality criteria for freshwater fish. 2nd edition. London: Butterworths; 1982.
- Allan JD. Stream ecology: structure and function of running waters. London: Chapman and Hall; 1995.
- Alonso A. Valoración de la degradación ambiental y efectos ecotoxicológicos sobre la comunidad de macroinvertebrados bentónicos en la cabecera del río Henares. Doctoral Dissertation, Universidad de Alcalá, Alcalá de Henares (Madrid), Spain, 2005.
- Alonso A, Camargo JA. Short-term toxicity of ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate to the aquatic snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Hydrobiidae, Mollusca). Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 2003;70:1006–12.
- Alonso A, Camargo JA. Toxic effects of unionized ammonia on survival and feeding activity of the freshwater amphipod *Eulimnogammarus toletanus* (Gammaridae, Crustacea). Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 2004;72:1052–8. Anderson DM. Red tides. Sci Am 1994;271:52–8.
- Anderson DM, White AW, Baden DG, editors. Toxic dinoflagellates. New York: Elsevier: 1985.
- Anderson DM, Glibert PM, Burkholder JM. Harmful algal blooms and eutrophication: nutrient sources, composition, and consequences. Estuaries 2002;25:704–26.
- Anthonisen AC, Loehr RC, Prakasam TBS, Srinath EG. Inhibition of nitrification by ammonia and nitrous acid. J Water Pollut Control Fed 1976;48:835–52.
- Augspurger T, Keller AE, Black MC, Cope WG, Dwyer FJ. Water quality guidance for protection of freshwater mussels (Unionidae) from ammonia exposure. Environ Toxicol Chem 2003;22:2569–75.
- Austin B. Marine microbiology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1988.
- Ayebo A, Kross B, Vlad M, Sinca A. Infant methemoglobinemia in the Transylvania region in Romania. Int J Occup Environ Health 1997;3:20–9.
- Bache BW. Aluminium mobilization in soils and waters. J Geol Soc (Lond) 1986;143:699-706.
- Baden DG. Brevetoxins: unique polyether dinoflagellate toxins. FASEB J 1989;3:1807–17.
- Baker LA, Herlihy AT, Kaufmann PR, Eilers JM. Acidic lakes and streams in the United States: the role of acidic deposition. Science 1991;252:1151–4.
- Ball R. The relative susceptibilities of some species of freshwater fish to poisons. I. Ammonia. Water Res 1967;1:767–75.
- Biggs BJF. Eutrophication of streams and rivers: dissolved nutrient-chlorophyll relationship for benthic algae. J North Am Benthol Soc 2000;19:17–31.
- Birge WJ, Westerman AG, Spromberg JA. Comparative toxicology and risk assessment of amphibians. In: Sparling DW, Linder G, Bishop CA, editors. Ecotoxicology of amphibians and reptiles. Pensacola (USA): SETAC; 2000. p. 727–92.
- Borchardt MA. Nutrients. In: Stevenson RJ, Bothwell ML, Lowe RL, editors. Algal ecology: freshwater benthic ecosystems. San Diego: Academic Press; 1996. p. 183–227.
- Borg H, Andersson P, Johansson K. Influence of acidification on metal fluxes in Swedish forest lakes. Sci Total Environ 1989;87/88:241–54.
- Botes DP, Kruger H, Viljoen CC. Isolation and characterization of four toxins from the blue green alga *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Toxicon 1982;20:945–54.
- Breitburg D. Effects of hypoxia, and the balance between hypoxia and enrichment, on coastal fishes and fisheries. Estuaries 2002;25:767–81.
- Burkholder JM, Noga EJ, Hobbs CW, Glasgow HB, Smith SA. New phantom dinoflagellates is the causative agent of major estuarine fish kills. Nature 1992;358:407–10.
- Burkholder JM, Glasgow HB. *Pfiesteria piscicida* and other *Pfiesteria*-like dinoflagellates: behaviour, impacts, and environmental controls. Limnol Oceanogr 1997;42:1052–75.
- Burkholder JM. Implications of harmful microalgae and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in management of sustainable marine fisheries. Ecol Appl 1998;8:S37–62.

- Burkholder JM, Gordon AS, Moeller PD, Law JM, Coyne KJ, Lewitus AJ, et al. Demonstration of toxicity to fish and to mammalian cells by *Pfiesteria* species: comparison of assay methods and strains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:3471–6.
- Busse LB, Venrick EL, Antrobus R, Miller PE, Vigilant V, Silver MW, et al. Domoic acid in phytoplankton and fish in San Diego, CA, USA. Harmful Algae 2006;5:91-101.
- Calamari D, Marchetti R, Vailati G. Effetti di trattamenti prolungati con ammoniaca su stadi di sviluppo del *Salmo gairdneri*. Nuovi Ann Ig Microbiol 1997;28:333–45.
- Camargo JA. Temporal and spatial variations in dominance, diversity and biotic indices along a limestone stream receiving a trout farm effluent. Water Air Soil Pollut 1992;63:343–59.
- Camargo JA, Ward JV. Differential sensitivity of *Dugesia dorotocephala* and *Cheumatopsyche pettiti* to water acidification: ecological implication for predator–prey interactions. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1992a;23:59–63.
- Camargo JA, Ward JV. Short-term toxicity of sodium nitrate (NaNO₃) to nontarget freshwater invertebrates. Chemosphere 1992b;24:23–8.
- Camargo JA, Ward JV. Ameliorating effect of sodium chloride on the tolerance of *Cheumatopsyche pettiti* (Trichoptera, Hydropsychidae) to water acidification. In: Gorsuch JW, Dwyer FJ, Ingersoll CG, La Point TW, editors. Environmental toxicology and risk assessment, vol. II. Philadelphia: American Society for Testing and Materials; 1993. p. 62–72.
- Camargo JA, Ward JV. Nitrate (NO₃–N) toxicity to aquatic life: a proposal of safe concentrations for two species of Nearctic freshwater invertebrates. Chemosphere 1995;31:3211–6.
- Camargo JA, Alonso A, Salamanca A. Nitrate toxicity to aquatic animals: a review with new data for freshwater invertebrates. Chemosphere 2005a;58: 1255–67.
- Camargo JA, Alonso A, de la Puente M. Eutrophication downstream from small reservoirs in mountain rivers of central Spain. Water Res 2005b;39: 3376–84.
- Campbell NA. Biology. 2nd edition. Redwood City (CA): The Benjamin/ Cummings Publishing Company; 1990.
- Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life: nitrate ion. Winnipeg, Canada: CCMI; 2003. Carmichael WW. The cyanotoxins. Adv Bot Res 1997;7:211–56.
- Carpenter SR, Caraco NF, Correll DL, Howarth RW, Sharpley AN, Smith VH.
- Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecol Appl 1998;8:559–68.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Spontaneous abortions possibly related to ingestion of nitrate-contaminated well water in La Grange County, Indiana, 1991–1994. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 1996;45:569–72.
- Cerhan JR, Weyer PJ, Janney CA, Lynch CF, Folsom AR. Association of nitrate levels in municipal drinking water and diet with risk of coronary heart disease mortality: the Iowa Women's Health Study. Epidemiology 2001;12: S84 457.
- Chamier A-C. Effect of pH on microbial degradation of leaf litter in seven streams of the English Lake District. Oecologia 1987;71:491–500.
- Chen JC, Chen SF. Accumulation of nitrite in the haemolymph of *Penaeus monodon* exposed to ambient nitrite. Comp Biochem Physiol 1992;103C: 477–81.
- Cheng S-Y, Chen J-C. Study on the oxyhemocyanin, deoxyhemocyanin, oxygen affinity and acid–base balance of *Marsupenaeus japonicus* following exposure to combined elevated nitrite and nitrate. Aquatic Toxicol 2002;61: 181–93.
- Cheng S-Y, Tsai S-J, Chen J-C. Accumulation of nitrate in the tissues of *Penaeus monodon* following elevated ambient nitrate exposure after different time periods. Aquat Toxicol 2002;56:133–46.
- Cirujano S, Medina L. Plantas acuáticas de las lagunas y humedales de Castilla-La Mancha. Real Jardín Botánico (CSIC) y Junta de Comunidades de Castilla-La Mancha; 2002.
- Chorus I, editor. Cyanotoxins: occurrence, causes, consequences. Berlin: Springer, 2001.
- Colwell R, Huq A. Marine ecosystems and cholera. Hydrobiologia 2001;460: 141-5.
- Constable M, Charlton M, Jensen F, McDonald K, Craig G, Taylor KW. An ecological risk assessment of ammonia in the aquatic environment. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 2003;9:527–48.

- Costa PR, Rosa R, Sampayo MAM. Tissue distribution of the amnesic shellfish toxin, domoic acid, in *Octopus vulgaris* from the Portuguese coast. Mar Biol 2004;144:971–6.
- Craun GF, Greathouse DG, Gunderson DH. Methemoglobin levels in young children consuming high nitrate well water in the United States. Int J Epidemiol 1981;10:309–17.
- Cummins CP. Acid solutions. In: Calow P, editor. Handbook of ecotoxicology, vol. 2. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications; 1994. p. 21–44.
- Cusack CK, Bates SS, Quilliam MA, Patching JW, Raine R. Confirmation of domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia australis* (Bacillariophyceae) isolated from Irish waters. J Phycol 2002;38:1106–12.
- Dangles O, Gessner MO, Guérold F, Chauvet E. Impacts of stream acidification on litter breakdown: implications for assessing ecosystem functioning. J Appl Ecol 2004;41:365–78.
- Dawson RM. The toxicology of microcystins. Toxicon 1998;36:953-62.
- Day JW, Hall CAS, Kemp WM, Yañez-Arancibia A, editors. Estuarine ecology. New York: John Wiley and Sons; 1989.
- De Mott WR, Zhang QX, Carmichael WW. Effects of toxic cyanobacteria and purified toxins on the survival and feeding activity of a copepod and three species of *Dapnia*. Limnol Oceanogr 1997;36:1346–57.
- Devlin JP, Edwards OE, Gorham PR, Hunter MR, Pike RK, Stavric B. Anatoxin-a, a toxic alkaloid from *Anabaena flos-aquae* NCR-44h. Can J Chem 1977;55:1367–71.
- Diaz RJ, Rosenberg R. Marine benthic hypoxia: a review of its ecological effects and the behavioural responses of benthic macrofauna. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 1995;33:245–303.
- Dittman E, Meissner K, Börner T. Conserved sequences of peptide synthetase genes in the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Phycologia 1996;35:62–7.
- Dodds WK, Smith VH, Zander B. Developing nutrient targets to control benthic chlorophyll levels in streams: a case study of the Clark Fork River. Water Res 1997;31:1738–50.
- Dodds WK, Jones JR, Welch EB. Suggested classification of stream trophic state: distributions of temperate stream types by chlorophyll, total nitrogen, and phosphorus. Water Res 1998;32:1455–62.
- Dodds WK, Smith VH, Lohman K. Nitrogen and phosphorus relationships to benthic algal biomass in temperate streams. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 2002;59: 865–74.
- Doka SE, McNicol DK, Mallory ML, Wong I, Minns CK, Yan ND. Assessing potential for recovery of biotic richness and indicator species due to changes in acidic deposition and lake pH in five areas of southeastern Canada. Environ Monit Assess 2003;88:53-101.
- Dorsch MM, Scragg RKR, McMichael AJ, Baghurst PA, Dyer KF. Congenital malformations and maternal drinking water supply in rural south Australia: a case-control study. Am J Epidemiol 1984;119:473–86.
- Dortch Q, Robichaux R, Pool S, Milsted D, Mire G, Rabalais NN, et al. Abundance and vertical flux of *Pseudo-nitzschia* in the northern Gulf of Mexico. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 1997;146:249–64.
- Downing JA, Watson Sb, McCauley E. Predicting cyanobacteria dominance in lakes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 2001;58:1905–8.
- Driscoll CT, Likens GE, Church MR. Recovery of surface waters in the northeastern U.S. from decreases in atmospheric deposition of sulphur. Water Air Soil Pollut 1998;105:319–29.
- Eddy FB, Williams EM. Nitrite and freshwater fish. Chem Ecol 1987;3:1-38.
- Elser JJ, Marzolf ER, Goldman CR. Phosphorus and nitrogen limitation of phytoplankton growth in the fresh-waters of North America: a review and critique of experimental enrichments. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 1990;47: 1468–77.
- Emerson K, Russo RC, Lund RE, Thurston RV. Aqueous ammonia equilibrium calculations: effect of pH and temperature. J Fish Res Board Can 1975;32: 2379–83.
- Environment Canada. Priority substances assessment report: ammonia in the aquatic environment. Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada; 2001.
- Epstein PR. Algal blooms in the spread and persistence of cholera. Biosystems 1993;31:209–21.
- Eriksson JE, Meriluoto JAO, Kujari HP, Osterland K, Fagerlund K, Hallbom L. Preliminary characterization of a toxin isolated from the cyanobacterium *Nodularia spumigena*. Toxicon 1988;26:161–6.

- Ewell WS, Gorsuch JW, Kringle RO, Robillard KA, Spiegel RC. Simultaneous evaluation of the acute effects of chemicals on seven aquatic species. Environ Toxicol Chem 1986;5:831–40.
- Fehling J, Davidson K, Bolch CJ, Bates SS. Growth and domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) under phosphate and silicate limitation. J Phycol 2004a;40:674–83.
- Fehling J, Green DH, Davidson K, Bolch CJ, Bates SS. Domoic acid production by *Pseudo-nitzschia seriata* (Bacillariophyceae) in Scottish waters. J Phycol 2004b;40:622–30.
- Fisher TR, Peele ER, Ammerman JW, Harding LW. Nutrient limitation of phytoplankton in Chesapeake Bay. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 1992;82:51–63.
- Fjellheim A, Raddum GG. Acid precipitation: biological monitoring of streams and lakes. Sci Total Environ 1990;96:57–66.
- Fogg GE, Steward WDP, Fay P, Walsby AE. The blue green algae. New York: Academic Press; 1973.
- Francouer SN. Meta-analysis of lotic nutrient amendment experiments: detecting and quantifying subtle responses. J North Am Benthol Soc 2001;20:358–68.
- Fwetrell L. Drinking-water nitrate, methemoglobinemia, and global burden of disease: a discussion. Environ Health Perspect 2004;112:1371–4.
- Galloway JN, Cowling EB. Reactive nitrogen and the world: 200 years of change. Ambio 2002;31:64–71.
- Geraci JR, Anderson DM, Timperi RJ, Staubin DJ, Early GA, Prescott JH, et al. Humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) fatally poisoned by dinoflagellate toxin. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 1989;46:1895–8.
- Gilbert JJ. Differential effects of Anabaena affinis on cladocerans and rotifers: mechanisms and implications. Ecology 1990;71:1727–40.
- Gilroy DJ, Kenneth W, Ronald A, Hall XH, Fun SC. Assessing potential health risks from microcystin toxins in blue-green algae dietary supplements. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:435–40.
- Giovannardi S, Pollegioni L, Pomati F, Rossetii C, Sacchi S, Sessa L, et al. Toxic cyanobacterial blooms in Lake Varese (Italy): a multidisciplinary approach. Environ Toxicol 1999;14:127–34.
- Glasgow HB, Burkholder JM, Schmechel DE, Tester PA, Rublee PA. Insidious effects of a toxic dinoflagellate on fish survival and human health. J Toxicol Environ Health 1995;46:101–22.
- Glasgow HB, Burkholder JM, Mallin MA, Deamer-Melia NJ, Reed RE. Field ecology of toxic *Pfiesteria* complex species and a conservative analysis of their role in estuarine fish kills. Environ Health Perspect 2001;109:715–30.
- Gleick PH, editor. Water in crisis: a guide to the world's fresh water resources. New York: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- Graham JL, Jones JR, Jones SB, Downing JA, Clevenger TE. Environmental factors influencing microcystin distribution and concentration in the Midwestern United States. Water Res 2004;38:4395–404.
- Granéli E, Sundstrom B, Edler L, Anderson DM, editors. Toxic marine phytoplankton. New York: Academic Press; 1990.
- Greer FR, Shannon M. Infant methemoglobinemia: the role of dietary nitrate in food and water. Pediatrics 2005;116:784–6.
- Griffith MB, Perry SA. Fungal biomass and leaf litter processing in streams of different water chemistry. Hydrobiologia 1994;294:51–61.
- Groom AP, Hildrew AG. Food quality for detritivores in streams of contrasting pH. J Anim Ecol 1989;58:863–81.
- Gulland FMD, Haulena M, Fauquier D, Langlois G, Lander ME, Zabka T, et al. Domoic acid toxicity in California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*): clinical signs, treatment and survival. Vet Rec 2002;150:475–80.
- Gupta SK, Gupta RC, Gupta AB, Seth AK, Bassin JK, Gupta A. Recurrent acute respiratory infections in areas with high nitrate concentrations in drinking water. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:363–6.
- Gutzmer MP, Tomasso JR. Nitrite toxicity to the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 1985;34:369–76.
- Hallegraeff GM. A review of harmful algal blooms and their apparent global increase. Phycologia 1993;32:79–99.
- Harper D. Eutrophication of freshwaters. London: Chapman and Hall; 1992.
- Harris RR, Coley S. The effects of nitrite on chloride regulation in the crayfish *Pacifastacus leniusculus* Dana (Crustacea Decapoda). J Comp Physiol 1991;161B:199–206.
- Hecnar SJ. Acute and chronic toxicity of ammonium nitrate fertilizer to amphibians from southern Ontario. Environ Toxicol Chem 1995;14:2131-7.

- Herbert DWM, Shurben DG. The susceptibility of salmonid fish to poisons under estuarine conditions. II. Ammonium chloride. Int J Air Water Pollut 1965;9:89–91.
- Hickey CW, Martin ML. Chronic toxicity of ammonia to the freshwater bivalve Sphaerium novaezelandiae. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1999;36:38–46.
- Hickey CW, Vickers ML. Toxicity of ammonia to nine native New Zealand freshwater invertebrate species. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1994;26:292–8.
- Hildrew AG, Townsend CR, Francis J, Finch K. Cellulolytic decomposition in streams of contrasting pH and its relationship with invertebrate community structure. Freshw Biol 1984;14:323–8.
- Hitzfeld BC, Hoger SJ, Dietrich DR. Cyanobacterial toxins: removal during water treatment, and human risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:113–22.
- Hoagland P, Anderson DM, Kaoru Y, White AW. The economic effects of harmful algal blooms in the United States: estimates, assessment issues, and information needs. Estuaries 2002;25:819–37.
- Horstman DA, McGibbon S, Pitcher GC, Calder D, Hutchings L. Red tides in False Bay, 1959–1989, with particular reference to blooms of *Gymnodinium* sp. Trans R Soc S Afr 1991;47:611–28.
- Howarth RW. Nutrient limitation of net primary production in marine ecosystems. Ann Rev Ecolog Syst 1988;19:89-110.
- Howarth RW, Anderson D, Cloern J, Elfring C, Hopkinson C, Lapointe B, et al. Nutrient pollution of coastal rivers, bays, and seas. Iss Ecol 2000;7:1-15.
- Huckabee JW, Mattice JS, Pitelka LF, Porcella DB, Goldstein RA. An assessment of the ecological effects of acidic deposition. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1989;18:3-27.
- Hudnell HK. Chronic biotoxin-associated illness: multiple-system symptoms, a vision deficit, and effective treatment. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2005;27:733–43.
- Huntley ME, Ciminello P, Lopez MDG. Importance of food quality in determining development and survival of *Calanus pacificus* (Copepoda: Calanoida). Mar Biol 1987;95:103–13.
- Irwin JG. Acid rain: emissions and deposition. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1989;18:95-107.
- Iverson F, Truelove J, Nera E, Tryphonas L, Campbell J, Lok E. Domoic acid poisoning and mussel-associated intoxication: preliminary investigations into the response of mice and rats of toxic mussel extract. Food Chem Toxicol 1989;27:377–84.
- Jensen FB. Uptake, elimination and effects of nitrite and nitrate in freshwater crayfish (*Astacus astacus*). Aquat Toxicol 1996;34:95-104.
- Jensen FB. Nitrite disrupts multiple physiological functions in aquatic animals. Comp Biochem Physiol 2003;135A:9-24.
- Johansson M, Räsänen K, Merilä J. Comparison of nitrate tolerance between different populations of the common frog, *Rana temporaria*. Aquat Toxicol 2001;54:1-14.
- Kelso BHL, Glass DM, Smith RV. Toxicity of nitrite in freshwater invertebrates. In: Wilson WS, Ball AS, Hinton RH, editors. Managing risks of nitrites to human and the environment. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry; 1999. p. 175–88.
- Kincheloe JW, Wedemeyer GA, Koch DL. Tolerance of developing salmonid eggs and fry to nitrate exposure. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 1979;23: 575–8.
- Kinne O, editor. Marine ecology. London: John Wiley and Sons; 1984.
- Knobeloch L, Salna B, Hogan A, Postle J, Anderson H. Blue babies and nitratecontaminated well water. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:675–8.
- Koop K, Booth D, Broadbent A, Brodie J, Bucher D, Capone D, et al. ENCORE: the effect of nutrient enrichment on coral reefs. Synthesis of results and conclusions. Mar Pollut Bull 2001;42:91-120.
- Kopáček J, Ulrich K-U, Hejzlar J, Borovec J, Stuchlík E. Natural inactivation of phosphorus by aluminum in atmospherically acidified water bodies. Water Res 2001;35:3783–90.
- Kopáček J, Brzakova M, Hejzlar J, Nedoma J, Porcal P, Vrba J. Nutrient cycling in a strongly acidified mesotrophic lake. Limnol Oceanogr 2004;49: 1202–13.
- Krause-Dellin D, Steinberg C. Cladoceran remains as indicators of lake acidification. Hydrobiologia 1986;143:129–34.
- Landsberg JH. The effects of harmful algal blooms on aquatic organisms. Rev Fish Sci 2002;10:113–390.
- Lassus P, Bardouil M, Beliaeff B, Masselin P, Naviner M, Truquet P. Effect of a continuous supply of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum* Balim

on the feeding behavior of the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas* Thunberg). J Shellfish Res 1999;18:211–6.

- Lefebvre KA, Dovel SL, Silver MW. Tissue distribution and neurotoxic effects of domoic acid in a prominent vector species, the northern anchovy *Engraulis mordax*. Mar Biol 2001;138:693–700.
- Lefebvre KA, Bargu S, Kieckhefer T, Silver MW. From sanddabs to blue whales: the pervasiveness of domoic acid. Toxicon 2002;40:971–7.
- Lesser MP, Shumway SE. Effects of toxic dinoflagellates on clearance rates and survival in juvenile bivalve molluscs. J Shellfish Res 1993;12:377–81.
- Levin ED, Blackwelder WP, Glasgow HB, Burkholder JM, Moeller PDR, Ramsdell JS. Learning impairment caused by a toxin produced by *Pfiesteria piscicida* infused into the hippocampus of rats. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2003;25:419–26.
- Lewis WM, Morris DP. Toxicity of nitrite to fish: a review. Trans Am Fish Soc 1986;115:183–95.
- Locke A. Zooplankton responses to acidification: a review of laboratory bioassays. Water Air Soil Pollut 1991;60:135–48.
- Luca D, Luca V, Cotor F, Rileanu L. In vivo and in vitro cytogenetic damage induced by sodium nitrite. Mutat Res 1987;189:333–40.
- Lush GJ, Hallegraeff GM. High toxicity of the red tide dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum* to the brine shrimp *Artemia salina*. In: Yasumoto T, Oshima Y, Fukuyo Y, editors. Harmful and toxic algal blooms. Paris: IOC UNESCO; 1996. p. 389–92.
- Main DC, Berry PH, Peet RL, Robertson JP. Sheep mortalities associated with the blue-green alga Nodularia spumigena. Aust Vet J 1977;53:578–81.
- Manahan SE. Toxicological chemistry. 2nd edition. Boca Raton (FL): Lewis Publishers; 1992.
- Mann ME, Bradley RS, Hughes MK. Global scale temperature patterns and climate forcing over the past six centuries. Nature 1998;392:779–87.
- Marchetti A, Trainer VL, Harrison PJ. Environmental conditions and phytoplankton dynamics associated with *Pseudo-nitzschia* abundance and domoic acid in the Juan de Fuca eddy. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2004;281:1-12.
- Margalef R. Limnología. Barcelona: Ediciones Omega; 1983.
- Mason J. Introduction: the causes and consequences of surface water acidification. In: Morris R, Taylor EW, Brown DJA, Brown JA, editors. Acid toxicity and aquatic animals. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1989. p. 1-12.
- Matsunaga S, Moore RE, Niemczura WP, Carmichael WW. Anatoxin-a(s), a potent anticholinesterase from *Anabaena flos-aquae*. J Am Chem Soc 1989;111:8021–3.
- Meriläinen JJ, Hynynen J. Benthic invertebrates in relation to acidity in Finnish forest lakes. In: Kauppi P, Anttila P, Kenttämies K, editors. Acidification in Finland. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1990. p. 1029–49.
- Meybeck M, Chapman DV, Helmer R. Global freshwater quality: a first assessment. World Health Organization and United Nations Environmental Program. Blackwell, Oxford, 1989.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. Solving the nitrate problem. Ref. PB 1092. London: MAFF Publications; 1993.
- Morris R, Taylor EW, Brown DJA, Brown JA, editors. Acid toxicity and aquatic animals. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1989.
- Muir PR, Sutton DC, Owens L. Nitrate toxicity to *Penaeus monodon* protozoea. Mar Biol 1991;108:67–71.
- Mummert AK, Neves RJ, Newcomb TJ, Cherry DS. Sensitivity of juvenile freshwater mussels (*Lampsilis fasciola, Villosa iris*) to total and unionized ammonia. Environ Toxicol Chem 2003;22:2545–53.
- Nash L. Water quality and health. In: Gleik PH, editor. Water in crisis: a guide to the world's fresh water resources. New York: Oxford University Press; 1993. p. 25–39.
- National Research Council. Clean coastal waters: understanding and reducing the effects of nutrient pollution. Washington, DC: National Academic Press; 2000.
- Negri AP, Jones GJ. Bioaccumulation of paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) toxins from the cyanobacterium *Anabaena circinalis* by the freshwater mussel *Alathyria condola*. Toxicon 1995;33:667–8.
- Neilson B, Cronin L, editors. Estuaries and nutrients. Clifton (NJ): Humana; 1981.
- Nelson WO, Campbell PGC. The effects of acidification on the geochemistry of Al, Cd, Pb and Hg in freshwater environments: a literature review. Environ Pollut 1991;71:91-130.

- Newton TJ, Allran JW, O'Donnell JA, Bartsch MR, Richardson WB. Effects of ammonia on juvenile unionid mussels (*Lampsilis cardium*) in laboratory sediment tests. Environ Toxicol Chem 2003;22:2554–60.
- Nixon SW. Coastal marine eutrophication: a definition, social causes, and future concerns. Ophelia 1995;41:199–219.
- Noga EJ, Khoo I, Stevens JB, Fan Z, Burkholder JM. Novel toxic dinoflagellate causes epidemic disease in estuarine fish. Mar Pollut Bull 1996;32:219–24.
- OECD. Eutrophication of waters: monitoring, assessment and control. Final report. Paris, France: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; 1982.
- Ormerod SJ, Weatherley NS, Merrett WJ. Restoring acidified streams in upland Wales: a modelling comparison of the chemical and biological effects of liming and reduced sulphate deposition. Environ Pollut 1990;64:67–85.
- Ortiz JA, Rueda A, Carbonell G, Camargo JA, Nieto F, Tarazona JV. Acute toxicity of sulfide and lower pH in cultured rainbow trout and coho salmon. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 1993;50:164–70.
- Paerl HW. Coastal eutrophication and harmful algal blooms: importance of atmospheric deposition and groundwater as "new" nitrogen and other nutrient sources. Limnol Oceanogr 1997;42:1154–65.
- Paerl HW, Whitall DR. Anthropogenically-derived atmospheric nitrogen deposition, marine eutrophication and harmful algal bloom expansion: is there a link? Ambio 1999;28:307–11.
- Paerl HW, Dennis RL, Whitall DR. Atmospheric deposition of nitrogen: implications for nutrient over-enrichment of coastal waters. Estuaries 2002;25:677–93.
- Pan Y, Parsons ML, Busman M, Moeller PDR, Dortch Q, Powell CL, et al. *Pseudo-nitzschia* cf. *pseudodelicatissima*: a confirmed producer of domoic acid from the northern Gulf of Mexico. Mar Ecol Pog Ser 2001;220: 83–92.
- Parslow RC, McKinney PA, Law GR, Staines A, Williams R, Bodansky HJ. Incidence of childhood diabetes mellitus in Yorkshire, northern England, is associated with nitrate in drinking water: an ecological analysis. Diabetologia 1997;40:550–6.
- Parsons ML, Dortch Q, Turner RE. Sedimentological evidence of an increase in *Pseudo-nitzschia* (Bacillariophyceae) abundance in response to coastal eutrophication. Limnol Oceanogr 2002;47:551–8.
- Persson PE, Sivonen K, Keto J, Kononen K, Niemi M, Vilajamaa H. Potentially toxic blue-green algae (cianobacteria) in Finnish natural waters. Aqua Fen 1984;14:147–54.
- Philips S, Laanbroek HJ, Verstraete W. Origin, causes and effects of increased nitrite concentrations in aquatic environments. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 2002;1:115–41.
- Rabalais NN. Nitrogen in aquatic ecosystems. Ambio 2002;31:102–12.
- Rabalais NN, Nixon SW, editors. Dedicated issue. Nutrient over-enrichment in coastal waters: global patterns of cause and effect, vol. 25. Estuaries; 2002.
- Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Dortch Q, Justic D, Bierman VJ, Wiseman WJ. Nutrient-enhanced productivity in the northern Gulf of Mexico: past, present and future. Hydrobiologia 2002;475:39–63.
- Reguera B, Blanco J, Fernández ML, Wyatt T, editors. Harmful algae. Paris: Xunta de Galicia, IOC; 1998.
- Reigman R. Species composition of harmful algal blooms in relation to macronutrient dynamics. In: Anderson DM, Cembella AD, Hallegraeff GM, editors. Physiological ecology of harmful algal blooms. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1998. p. 475–88.
- Rejmankova E, Savage HM, Rejmanek M, Arredondojimenez JI, Roberts DR. Multivariate analysis of relationships between habitats, environmental factors and occurrence of Anopheline mosquito larvae *Anopheles albimanus* and *A. pseudopunctipennis* in southern Chiapas, Mexico. J Appl Ecol 1991;28:827–41.
- Reynolds CS. What factors influence the species composition of phytoplankton in lakes of different trophic status? Hydrobiologia 1998;369/370:11–26.
- Rice SD, Bailey JE. Survival, size, and emergence of pink salmon, Oncorhynchus gorbuscha, alevins after short- and long-term exposures to ammonia. Fish Bull 1980;78:641–8.
- Richardson J. Acute ammonia toxicity for eight New Zealand indigenous freshwater species. NZ J Mar Freshw Res 1997a;31:185–90.
- Richardson K. Harmful or exceptional phytoplankton blooms in the marine ecosystem. Adv Mar Biol 1997b;31:301–85.

- Riddolls A. Aspects of nitrogen fixation in Lough Neagh. I. Acetylene reduction and the frequency of *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* heterocysts. Freshw Biol 1985;15:289–97.
- Rodger HD, Tumbull T, Edwards C, Codd GA. Cyanobacterial (blue-green algal) bloom associated with pathology in brown trout, *Salmo trutta* L., in Loch Leven, Scotland. J Fish Dis 1994;17:177–81.
- Rouse DB, Kastner RJ, Reddy KS. Toxicity of ammonia and nitrite to hatching redclaw crayfish, *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Freshw Crayfish 1995;10: 298–303.
- Rudd JWM, Kelly CA, Schindler DW, Turner MA. Disruption of the nitrogen cycle in acidified lakes. Science 1988;240:1515–7.
- Rudd JWM, Kelly CA, Schindler DW, Turner MA. A comparison of the acidification efficiencies of nitric and sulfuric acids by two whole-lake addition experiments. Limnol Oceanogr 1990;35:663–79.
- Russo RC. Ammonia, nitrite and nitrate. In: Rand GM, Petrocelli SR, editors. Fundamentals of aquatic toxicology. Washington DC: Hemisphere Publishing Corporation; 1985. p. 455–71.
- Russo RC, Thurston RV. The acute toxicity of nitrite to fishes. In: Tubb RA, editor. Recent advances in fish toxicology. Ecological research seriesCorvallis, Oregon: US Environmental Protection Agency; 1977. p. 118–31. EPA-600/3-77-085.
- Russo RC, Thurston RV, Emerson K. Acute toxicity of nitrite to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): effects of pH, nitrite species, and anion species. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 1981;38:387–93.
- Sasner JJ, Ikawa M, Foxall TL. Studies on *Aphanizomenon* and *Microcystis* toxins. In: Ragelis EP, editor. Seafood toxins. Washington, D.C.: American Chemical Society; 1984. p. 391–406.
- Schindler DW. Evolution of phosphorus limitation in lakes. Science 1977;195:260-2.
- Schindler DW. Effects of acid rain on freshwater ecosystems. Science 1988;239: 149–57.
- Schindler DW, Kasian SEM, Hesslein RH. Losses of biota from America aquatic communities due to acid rain. Environ Monit Assess 1989;12:269–85.
- Schindler DW, Frost TM, Mills KH, Chang PSI, Davies IJ, Findlay FL, et al. Freshwater acidification, reversibility and recovery: comparisons of experimental and atmospherical acidified lakes. Proc R Soc Edinb 1991;878:193–226.
- Scholin CA, Gulland F, Doucette GJ, Benson S, Busman M, Chavez FP, et al. Mortality of sea lions along the central California coast linked to a toxic diatom bloom. Nature 2000;403:80–4.
- Schuurkes JAAR, Mosello R. The role of external ammonium inputs in freshwater acidification. Schweiz Z Hydrol 1988;50:71–86.
- Schuytema GS, Nebeker AV. Comparative toxicity of ammonium and nitrate compounds to Pacific treefrog and African clawed frog tadpoles. Environ Toxicol Chem 1999;18:2251–7.
- Scott G, Crunkilton RL. Acute and chronic toxicity of nitrate to fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*), *Ceriodaphnia dubia* and *Daphnia magna*. Environ Toxicol Chem 2000;19:2918–22.
- Sellner KG, Olson MM, Olli K. Copepod interactions with toxic and nontoxic cyanobacteria from the Gulf of Finland. Phycologia 1996;35:177–82.
- Sellner KG. Physiology, ecology, and toxic properties of marine cyanobacteria blooms. Limnol Oceanogr 1997;42:1089–104.
- Sharma B, Ahlert RC. Nitrification and nitrogen removal. Water Res 1977;11: 897–925.
- Shaw BA, Andersen RJ, Harrison PJ. Feeding deterrent and toxicity effects of apofucoxanthinoids and phycotoxins on a marine copepod (*Tigriopus californicus*). Mar Biol 1997;128:273–80.
- Sierra Beltran A, Palafox-Uribe M, Grajales-Montiel J, Cruz-Villacorta A, Ochoa JL. Sea bird mortality at Cabo San Lucas, Mexico: evidence that toxic diatom blooms are spreading. Toxicon 1997;35:447–53.
- Skjelkvale BL, Stoddard JL, Andersen T. Trends in surface water acidification in Europe and North America (1989–1998). Water Air Soil Pollut 2001;130: 787–92.
- Smayda TJ, Shimizu Y, editors. Toxic phytoplankton blooms in the sea. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1993.
- Smil V. Enriching the Earth. Cambridge: The MIT Press; 2001.
- Smith VH. Eutrophication of freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: a global problem. Environ Sci Pollut R 2003;10:126–39.

- Smith VH, Tilman GD, Nekola JC. Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. Environ Pollut 1999;100:179–96.
- Spector DL, editor. Dinoflagellates. New York: Elsevier Science and Technology; 1984.
- Sprenger M, McIntosh A. Relationship between concentrations of aluminium, cadmium, lead, and zinc in water, sediments, and aquatic macrophytes in six acidic lakes. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 1989;18:225–31.
- Spry DJ, Wiener JG. Metal bioavailability and toxicity to fish in low-alkalinity lakes: a critical review. Environ Pollut 1991;71:243–304.
- Steinheimer TR, Scoggin KD, Kramer LA. Agricultural chemical movement through a field-sized watershed in Iowa: subsurface hydrology and distribution of nitrate in groundwater. Environ Sci Technol 1998;32: 1039–47.
- Stoddard JL, Jeffries DS, Lükewille A, Clair TA, Dillon PJ, Driscoll CT, et al. Regional trends in aquatic recovery from acidification in North America and Europe. Nature 1999;401:575–8.
- Stumm W, Morgan JJ. Aquatic chemistry. 3rd edition. New York: John Wiley and Sons; 1996.
- Swedish EPA. Environmental quality criteria: coasts and seas. Report, vol. 5052. Stockholm, Sweden: Swedish Environmental Protection Agency; 2000.
- Tahon JP, Van Hoof D, Vinckier C, Witters R, De Ley M, Lontie R. The reaction of nitrite with the haemocyanin of *Astacus leptodactylus*. Biochem J 1988;249: 891–6.
- Teixera M, Costa M, Carvalho V, Pereira M, Hage E. Gastroenteritis epidemic in the area of the Itaparica Dam, Bahia Brazil. Bull Pan Am Health Organ 1993;27:244–53.
- Teng HJ, Wu YL, Wang SJ, Lin C. Effects of environmental factors on abundance of *Anopheles minimus* (Diptera: Culicidae) larvae and their seasonal fluctuation in Taiwan. Environ Entomol 1998;27:324–8.
- Tester PA, Stumpf RP, Vurovich FM, Fowler PK, Turner JT. An expatriate red tide bloom: transport, distribution, and persistence. Limnol Oceanogr 1991;36: 1053–61.
- Thessen AE, Dortch Q, Parsons ML, Morrison W. Effect of salinity on *Pseudo-nitzschia* species (Bacillariophyceae) growth and distribution. J Phycol 2005;41:21–9.
- Thurston RV, Russo RC, Smith CE. Acute toxicity of ammonia and nitrite to cutthroat trout fry. Trans Am Fish Soc 1978;107:361–8.
- Todd ECD. Preliminary estimates of costs of food-borne disease in the United States. J Food Prot 1989;52:595–601.
- Todd ECD. Domoic acid and amnesic shellfish poisoning: a review. J Food Prot 1993;56:69-83.
- Tomasso JR, Goudie CA, Simco BA, Davis KB. Effects of environmental pH and calcium on ammonia toxicity in channel catfish. Trans Am Fish Soc 1980;109:229–34.
- Tomasso JR, Simco BA, Davis KB. Chloride inhibition of nitrite-induced methemoglobinemia in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). J Fish Res Board Can 1979;36:1141–4.
- Toranzo AE, Nieto F, Barja JL. Mortality associated with a cyanobacterial bloom in farmed rainbow trout in Galicia (northwest Spain). Bull Eur Assoc Fish Pathol 1990;10:106–7.
- Toth SJ, Melton TA. North Carolina pest news. NC Coop Ext Serv 2000;16.
- Townsend AR, Howarth RW, Bazzaz FA, Booth MS, Cleveland CC, Collinge SK, et al. Human health effects of a changing global nitrogen cycle. Front Ecol Environ 2003;1:240–6.
- Turner JT, Lincoln JA, Tester PA, Bates SS, Leger C. Do toxic phytoplankton reduce egg production and hatching success of the copepod *Acartia tonsa*? EOS 1996;76 [OS12G-2].
- Turner RE. Element ratios and aquatic food webs. Estuaries 2002;25:694-703.
- Turner RE, Qureshi N, Rabalais NN, Dortch Q, Justic D, Shaw RF, Cope J. Fluctuating silicate: nitrate ratios and coastal plankton food webs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:13048–51.
- Turner RE, Rabalais NN, Justic D, Dortch Q. Global patterns of dissolved N, P and Si in large rivers. Biogeochemistry 2003a;64:297–317.
- Turner RE, Nancy NN, Justic D, Dortch Q. Future aquatic nutrient limitations. Mar Pollut Bull 2003b;46:1032–4.
- Ulrich KU, Pöthig R. Evidence for aluminium precipitation and phosphorus inactivation in acidified watershed-reservoir ecosystems. Sil Gab 2000;4: 125–38.

- US Environmental Protection Agency. Quality criteria for water. Washington, DC: EPA; 1986. 440/5-86-001.
- US Environmental Protection Agency. Update of ambient water quality criteria for ammonia. Washington, DC: EPA; 1999. 822/R-99-014.
- US EPA. http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/criteria/nutrient/guidance/index. html; 2002.
- Van den Bergh JC, Nunes PA, Dotinga HM, Kooistra WH, Vrieling E, Peperzak L. Exotic harmful algae in marine ecosystems: an integrated biological– economic–legal analysis of impacts and policies. Mar Pollut 2002;26: 59–74.
- Van Dolah FM. Marine algal toxins: origins, health effects, and their increased occurrence. Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:133–41.
- Van Dolah FM, Roelke D, Greene RM. Health and ecological impacts of harmful algal blooms: risk assessment needs. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 2001;7:1329–45.
- Van Maanen JMS, van Dijk A, Mulder K, de Baets MH, Menheere PCA, van der Heide D, et al. Consumption of drinking waters with high nitrate levels causes hypertrophy of the thyroid. Toxicol Lett 1994;72:365–74.
- Van Maanen JMS, Welle IJ, Hageman G, Dallinga JW, Mertens PLJM, Kleinjans JCS. Nitrate contamination of drinking water: relationship with HPRT variant frequency in lymphocyte DNA and urinary excretion of *N*nitrosamines. Environ Health Perspect 1996;104:522–8.
- Van Maanen JMS, Albering HJ, de Kok TMCM, van Breda SGJ, Curfs DMJ, Vermeer ITM, et al. Does the risk of childhood diabetes mellitus require revision of the guideline values for nitrate in drinking water? Environ Health Perspect 2000;108:457–61.
- Virtanen SM, Jaakkola L, Rasanen L, Ylonen K, Aro A, Lounamaa R, et al. Nitrate and nitrite intake and the risk for Type 1 diabetes in Finnish children. Diabet Med 1994;11:656–62.
- Vitousek PM, Aber JD, Howarth RW, Likens GE, Matson PA, Schindler DW, et al. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. Ecol Appl 1997;7:737–50.

- Vollenweider RA, Marchetti R, Viviani R, editors. Marine coastal eutrophication. The response of marine transitional systems to human impact: problems and perspectives for restorationSci Tot Environ Suppl; 1992.
- Walker ED, Lawson DL, Merritt RW, Morgan WT, Klug MJ. Nutrient dynamics, bacterial-populations, and mosquito productivity in tree hole ecosystems and microcosms. Ecology 1991;72:1529–46.
- Ward MH, Mark SD, Cantor KP, Weisenburger DD, Correa-Villasenor A, Zahm SH. Drinking water nitrate and the risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Epidemiology 1996;7:465–71.
- Westin DT. Nitrate and nitrite toxicity to salmonid fishes. Prog Fish-Cult 1974;36:86–9.
- Wetzel RG. Limnology. 3rd edition. New York: Academic Press; 2001.
- Weyer PJ, Cerhan J, Kross BC, Hallberg GR, Kantamneni J, Breuer G, et al. Municipal drinking water nitrate level and cancer risk in older women: the Iowa Women's Health Study. Epidemiology 2001;12:327–38.
- Williams KAW, Green DWJ, Pascoe D. Studies on the acute toxicity of pollutants to freshwater macroinvertebrates. 3. Ammonia. Arch Hydrobiol 1986;106:61–70.
- Wolfe AH, Patz JA. Reactive nitrogen and human health: acute and long-term implications. Ambio 2002;31:120–5.
- Work TM, Bar B, Beale AM, Fritz L, Quilliam MA, Wright JLC. Epidemiology of domoic acid poisoning in brown pelicans (*Pelecanus occidentalis*) and Brandt's cormorants (*Phalacrocorax penicillatus*) in California. J Zoo Wildl Med 1992;24:54–62.
- World Health Organization. Guidelines for drinking-water quality. Health criteria and other supporting information2nd edition. . Geneva: WHO; 1996.
- Wright JLC, Boyd RK, de Freitas ASW, Falk M, Foxall RA, Jamieson D, et al. Identification of domic acid, a neuroexcitatory amino acid in toxic mussels from eastern Prince Edward Island. Can J Chem 1989;67:481–90.